
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Nicola Meurer, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: nicola.meurer@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 28 March 2017

Website: http://www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 5 APRIL 2017 AT 6.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Members of the Committee:
Felix Bloomfield (Chairman)
Joan Bland
Margaret Davies
Anthony Dearlove
Jeannette Matelot

Toby Newman (Vice-
Chairman)
David Nimmo-Smith
Richard Pullen

David Turner
Margaret Turner
Ian White

Substitutes
Charles Bailey
Stefan Gawrysiak

Stephen Harrod
Lorraine Hillier
Elaine Hornsby

Imran Lokhon
Sue Lawson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this 
agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic Services

Public Document Pack



2

1 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

2 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

3 Urgent business and chairman's announcements  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chairman.  

4 Applications deferred or withdrawn  

5 Proposals for site visits  

6 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

7 P16/S4062/O - 
Land east of 
Chalgrove  

This application has been deferred 
from consideration at committee 
on 5 April to allow for a site visit.

P16/S4062/O 5 - 24



3

Outline planning application for the 
erection of up to 120 residential 
dwellings and space for a community 
facility (Class D1/D2) with associated 
highways, landscaping and open 
space, with all matters reserved 
except access.

8 P16/S3525/FUL 
- Thames Valley 
Police Station, 
Greyhound 
Lane, Thame  

Redevelopment to form 41 sheltered 
apartments for the elderly, including 
communal facilities, access, car 
parking and landscaping.

P16/S3525/FUL 25 - 58

9 P17/S0080/O - 
69 Park Street, 
Thame  

Demolition of existing buildings and 
erection of three three-bedroom two-
storey dwellings with parking and 
amenity space.

P17/S0080/O 59 - 76

10 P17/S0129/FUL 
- 67 Park Street, 
Thame  

Conversion from one residential 
property into two apartments.

P17/S0129/FUL 77 - 88

11 P17/S0168/FUL 
- 24 Panters 
Road, Cholsey  

To erect an attached two-storey two-
bedroom dwelling including new 
vehicular access.

P17/S0168/FUL 89 - 102

12 P17/S0171/HH - 
7 Croft Terrace, 
Wallingford  

Replacement windows on rear of 
property and replacement front door.

P17/S0171/HH 103 - 
108



4



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

APPLICATION NO. P16/S4062/O
APPLICATION TYPE OUTLINE
REGISTERED 14.12.2016
PARISH CHALGROVE
WARD MEMBER(S) David Turner
APPLICANT Mr John Tarvit
SITE Land east of Chalgrove 
PROPOSAL Outline planning application for the erection of up to 

120 residential dwellings and space for a community 
facility (Use Class D1/D2) with associated highways, 
landscaping and open space, with all matters 
reserved except access.

AMENDMENTS None
GRID REFERENCE 464318/196632
OFFICER Joan Desmond

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1

1.2

The application is referred to the Planning Committee because the officer’s 
recommendation conflicts with the view of the Parish Council.

The site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) comprises 
7.45ha of agricultural land located on the south-east edge of the village of Chalgrove.  
The site is bounded by existing housing development at Farm Close and Chiltern 
Close to the west, the B480 to the north, The Grange of Berrick Road to the south and 
open agricultural land to the east.  A belt of young trees lies at the eastern end of the 
site and a public right of way runs along the southern boundary.  The site falls to the 
brook to the south which runs through the centre of the village.  The site is not within 
any areas of special landscape designation.     

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks outline planning permission for up to 120 homes, including 40% 

affordable homes and provision for a scout hut/community facility (D1/D2 use 
measuring 330 sq. metres in size).  The application seeks approval of the proposed 
access onto the B480 but reserves detailed matters relating to the scale, layout, and 
appearance and landscaping of the development for future consideration.

2.2 An illustrative masterplan has been submitted with the application to show how the site 
could accommodate up to 120 dwellings and associated public open space and green 
infrastructure.  Access would be from the B480 via a new roundabout junction.  Given 
that the application is in outline, the masterplan is for indicative purposes only.

2.3 The indicative housing mix outlined in the application is as follows:

I bed 20
2 bed 44
3 bed 45
4 bed 11

TOTAL 120
2.4 The indicative masterplan and is attached as Appendix B.  The application is 

accompanied by a number of supporting documents, including a Design and Access 
Statement and Planning Statement.  These are available to view on the council’s 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S4062/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website but are summarised below.

3.1 Chalgrove Parish Council – Object for the following reasons:

1. This is not the preferred site chosen by the CNDP and the public. Chalgrove village 
infrastructure, in particular education, can only sustain adequately one future 
development of circa 200 homes as required in the emerging South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan.  
2. This site is situated on the edge of the built up area of Chalgrove with no highway 
connection to it and therefore apart from the village. Future residents would not 
naturally integrate easily into the village from a community coalescence point of view.  
3. There is only one vehicular access in the planning application and this egresses on 
to the B480, again deterring integration as the development would be detached from 
the village. There is concern about the road safety aspect of this access from the B480 
which we would be surprised if OCC would not also be concerned about; the net effect 
being three access points into the village from the eastern side and two of them with no 
road access into the village.
4. There is one proposed new pedestrian access onto the B480. The other proposed 
one connecting to the village near the junction of Monument Road, the High Street and 
Berrick Road exits onto a dangerous and narrow side road with no pavement, which 
leads to a narrow bridge. This path floods frequently after heavy rainfall.  The 
suggestion of two pelican crossings here across the triangle of grass would appear 
wholly unsuitable, on a fast bend which leads in and out of the village. The sight lines 
into the crossings would be very restricted and dangerous with motorists having very 
little time to spot the crossings before they are at them. We would be most surprised if 
OCC would agree to such a dangerous situation. The suggested path across the 
triangle of grass would spoil a popular seated area, which presents a very attractive 
approach to the east end of the village. This exit from the site has caused major 
concern – the whole proposed concept of these crossings will not be safe and would be 
contrary to the character of the village scene.   
5. The fear of flooding remains a prime concern in the village. This site is upstream, so 
any risk of future flooding would affect the whole village. There are concerns from past 
experience that we cannot depend on yet unproved reliability of SUDS long term, 
especially when there is another option at the western end of the village. We cannot 
take the risk, however small, of any future flooding from which the village already 
suffers. 

CPRE Campaign for the Preservation of Rural England (Rights of Way) – The 
urbanisation of this site and loss of rural views from the footpath (FP15) would 
inevitably be regrettable for walkers and would detract from the pleasure currently to be 
derived from walking this footpath. However, if this site is to be developed, we welcome 
the fact that it is proposed to retain a green corridor flanking the footpath and thus 
minimise the impact of the development on the footpath.

Oxfordshire County Council Highways – No objection subject to conditions and 
completion of a legal agreement to secure improved public transport and Travel plan 
monitoring fees.

Oxfordshire County Council Education – No objection subject to Community 
Infrastructure Levy funding to mitigate the impact on Secondary Education.  Primary 
education, early years and childcare provision has capacity to accommodate the 
development. 

Page 6

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

Oxfordshire County Council Archaeology – Following the submission of 
archaeological field evaluation, no objection subject to a condition to secure a 
programme of archaeological investigation. 

Oxfordshire County Council Property – No objection subject to Community 
Infrastructure Levy funding to mitigate the impact on County Council related 
infrastructure.  

Forestry Officer– No objection but detailed layout will need to consider space for 
planting to help break up the uniformity of the proposed development.

Countryside Officer – No objection subject to a condition requiring a Biodiversity 
Enhancement Strategy.  

Urban Design Officer – Overall, I think the density of the development is too high 
because the illustrative layout indicates to me that this would be a development with 
quite a hard, urban character. This is because the western end of the site has little 
space for significant tree planting or pockets of open space and consequently, the 
residents of these dwellings would not have the same outlook afforded to the less 
dense development towards the eastern end. The roundabout entrance into the site 
seems to be overly engineered and there is a strip along the western boundary which is 
not well defined and would serve as an unhelpful buffer between the existing and 
proposed developments. As the layout currently remains, I am not satisfied that up to 
120 dwellings could be accommodated on the site without creating an overly dense 
layout, appearance and character.

Drainage Consultant (Monson) – No objection subject to condition requiring approval 
of sustainable drainage details.
Environmental Health Officer - No objection subject to conditions requiring the 
agreement of measures to mitigate the impact on air quality ad noise during 
demolition/construction. 

Environmental Health Officer – No objection to the development in principle, subject 
to conditions to protect the amenity of surrounding residents from noise and dust.

Housing Development Officer– Affordable housing provision should reflect the 
significant demand for two bedroom units for both rented and shared ownership tenures 
with a reduction in one-bedroom accommodation and an adjustment to the number of 
larger homes.

Chalgrove Neighbourhood Development Plan Committee (CNDP) - Following a 
detailed site assessment, which included a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA), 
the Land West of Marley Lane and the Land East of Chalgrove were identified as 
possible sites for development of 82 homes in Chalgrove, with the land West of Marley 
Lane as the preferred option, this was supported by community consultation.  As a 
result of the SHMA, Chalgrove is now likely to be expected to take in the vicinity of 200 
homes. Following further consultations the land West of Marley Lane was identified by 
residents as the preferred option. CNDP request that both applications are heard at the 
same meeting and deferral of any decisions until the CNDP is produced.  Despite many 
challenges, the Steering Group remain committed to produce a NDP and would ask 
that the amount of work and effort put in by the group are taken into account when 
considering these allocations. The following issues are of major concern and could limit 

Page 7



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

the number of homes Chalgrove can accommodate as sustainable development:

 Flooding - all proposed development sites would be subject to a flood risk 
assessment.

 Sewer capacity - Chalgrove treatment works could accommodate an additional 
140 dwellings before having a deterioration of more than 10%, and therefore it is 
unlikely that Thames Water would accept additional flows before upgrade works 
have been carried out.

School Capacity - The school is full in Nursery with some gaps in years 5 and 6. There 
is capacity for 240 pupils including Nursery and 210 without. The school currently has 
183 pupils with 27 spaces mainly in years 5 and 6.  A development of 200 homes would 
produce 50 Primary school children, exceeding the current capacity.

Cllr Steve Harrod - My main concern remains that the new development will be 
isolated from the rest of the village, with access to village amenities only possible via 
the B480 and not directly through any adjoining streets. In addition this will significantly 
increase traffic flow along the B480.

Local residents
 35 responses in objection to the application – objections received in relation to the 

following matters: 

      Planning 
 Proposal is premature – planning authority must take strategic overview, 

incorporate ALL current ongoing work - including NDP + Airfield.
 Other identified sites more suitable
 Proposed site not favoured due to flood risk
 Is circumventing the NDP process.

      Flooding 
 Risk due to fall in level between the B480 and the Grange – the Grange land 

floods. Development of field to hard surface will exacerbate this. Should locate 
new development downstream not upstream

 No attempt to provide permeable surfaces on site
 Once underground drainage systems are buried the cause of future flooding will 

be very difficult to establish
 Best to develop sites to west and install drainage to reduce flood risk
 Boundary ditch on site is essential to prevent flooding/runoff and must continue 

to be maintained
 Site fails the flood risk sequential test
 Flooding is a recurring issue here – please consider local voices and local 

knowledge/experience 
The site
 Layout varies in density – should be rebalanced to allow more space to the west 

of the site
 Development visible from various well-established viewpoints around the village 

– should be better screened as well as from neighbouring properties 
 No need for community centre – better to provide play area
 Too far to walk to village centre – residents will drive there
 Loss of privacy and security for immediate neighbours – new housing too close 

and proposed barrier sparse and ineffective –conifers would be better than 
deciduous shrubs proposed

Page 8



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

 Development designed to allow further development on next field
Traffic
 Developer has failed to resolve safety issues re the footpath, blind bend without 

pavement
 Respondent proposes pedestrian bridge over stream to Berrick Close and 

across land at Franklin Close to provide safe crossing
 Proposal is claimed to be ‘environmentally friendly re transport’ but provides a 

parking space for each bedroom
 Will cause severe problems in Cuxham and Watlington, already congested and 

unable to increase capacity for traffic
 Lack of infrastructure planning to alleviate increased traffic in other villages
 Need second access to site via Farm Close
Impact on village
 Creeping extension to village but tacked on, not a part of it
 Should install high fences to shield existing residents from the new housing or 

brick wall as in French Lawrence Way
 Site not integrated into village, separated by the only access (Monument Road) 

which is narrow and has no footpath around a blind bend which will put new 
residents at risk

 Village infrastructure inadequate – school, GP , parking, shops                 
 More children will be exposed to the dangerous school walk 
 Unsafe pathway connection to village centre
 Site too far from village centre – proposed sites at other (western) end of the 

village preferable as closer to centre and within walking distance
 Village centre already overloaded and difficult to park
 Will ruin existing path adjacent to site well used by walkers
 Loss of views across field from existing houses – shift development to west of 

village
 Risk to children due to winter shooting in nearby field/copse
Loss of wildlife/habitat
 Gardens trees shrubs etc. on the developed site will not compensate for loss of 

trees, hedgerows, wildlife
 Loss of: badgers, hare, fox, roe deer, muntjac, red kites, buzzard, rabbits, 

seagulls, woodpeckers, bats and owls
1 response - accepted the principle of development but had concerns.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 There is no relevant planning history relating to this site.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

5.2 NPPF Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.3 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSC1  -  Delivery and contingency
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment

Page 9



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

CSG1   -  Green infrastructure
CSH1  -  Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSI1  -  Infrastructure provision
CSM1  -  Transport
CSM2  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSQ3  -  Design
CSQ4  -  Design briefs for greenfield neighbourhoods and major development sites
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSR3  -  Community facilities and rural transport
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.4 South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CF2  -  Provision of additional community facilities
CON12  -  Archaeological field evaluation
CON13  -  Archaeological investigation recording & publication
D1  -  Principles of good design
D12  -  Public art
D6  -  Community safety
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP4  -  Impact on water resources
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G3  -  Development well served by facilities and transport
G4  -  Protection of Countryside
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
R2  -  Provision of play areas on new housing development
R6  -  Public open space in new residential development
R8  -  Protection of existing public right of way
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T7  -  Protection and improvement to footpath and highway network

5.5 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2032
The consultation on the ‘Preferred Options’ for the Local Plan closed 19 August 2016.  
The Preferred Options does not allocate sites for development and instead devolves 
delivery of houses in villages to the Neighbourhood Plan process.   

5.6 Chalgrove Neighbourhood Plan (CNP)
The Parish Council is currently working on the draft version of its neighbourhood plan. 
The draft version has yet to undergo its six week consultation prior to its submission to 
the District Council.

5.7 South Oxfordshire Design Guide  - Sections 3,4 and 5

5.8 Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 
The site is over 5 hectares and therefore exceeds the ’exclusion thresholds’ in 
Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2011.  Although in excess of the size criteria, the physical scale of the 

Page 10



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

development would be significantly below the guideline in the PPG of a development 
that would have a significant urbanising effect (more than 1,000 dwellings). 

The development is not within a sensitive area.  Taking into account the nature, scale 
and location of the proposal, the effects from this proposal are likely to be of local 
importance but not significant within the context of the EIA regulations and guidance.  
As such, the proposal is not EIA development and a full Environmental Statement is not 
required.

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this application are:

 The principle of the development, including:
- the council’s housing land supply position,
- how the development of the site fits with the council’s spatial strategy, 
- the emerging Neighbourhood Plan,
- the accessibility of the site to services and facilities.

 Matters of detail / technical issues, including:
- affordable housing and housing mix,
- highway safety and traffic impact,
- landscape impact,
- agricultural land,
- trees and ecology,
- design and layout, 
- neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents,
- flood risk and surface / foul drainage,
- impact on Heritage Assets
- environmental matters (air quality and noise). 

 Infrastructure requirements, including:
- on-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement,
- contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy. 

6.2

The principle of the development 

The council’s housing land supply position

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. One such material 
consideration, of notable importance, is the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). 

6.3 To significantly boost the supply of housing, the NPPF requires local planning 
authorities to identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites 
sufficient to provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements.  
This supply should include an additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice and competition 
in the market for land.  Alternatively, where there has been persistent under delivery of 
housing, the buffer should increase to 20% to provide a realistic prospect of achieving 
the planned supply.    

6.4 The most recent evidence base that informs the council’s housing requirements is the 
2014 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).  To meet the identified housing 
need for the district, the SHMA committed economic growth housing forecast is 750 

Page 11



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

homes per annum.  This is a sizable uplift from the requirement for 547 homes per 
annum set out in the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS).  
 

6.5 Based on the evidence in the SHMA and past delivery, the council has a housing land 
supply of 3.8 years (including the 20% buffer for under delivery).  The council cannot 
therefore currently demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.  

6.6 Para.49 of the NPPF specifies that relevant policies for the supply of housing should 
not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-
year supply of deliverable housing sites.  Para.14 adds that where relevant policies are 
out of date, planning permission should be granted unless
- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole;
- or specific policies in the Framework indicate development should be restricted.

6.7 This means that the policies for the supply of housing in the SOCS are given 
significantly less weight.  Applications for housing should now be considered in the 
context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development and should be 
permitted unless there is planning harm that outweighs the benefit of providing new 
housing. 

6.8

How the development of the site fits with the council’s spatial strategy

Although the policies for the supply of housing in the SOCS have less weight in the 
decision making process, I consider that weight should still be attributed to the over-
arching spatial strategy in the SOCS.  The spatial strategy in the SOCS seeks to focus 
development in locations which are, or can be, made accessible and is consistent with 
the core planning principle of the NPPF.  This is particularly important given that South 
Oxfordshire is a predominantly rural district.  

6.9 Policy CSS1 of the SOCS sets out the overall distribution strategy for the district.  This 
strategy: 

(i) focuses major new development in Didcot; 
(ii) supports the roles of Henley, Thame and Wallingford by regenerating town 

centres and providing new housing, services, employment and 
infrastructure;

(iii) supports larger villages as local service centres;
(iv) supports other villages by allowing for limited amounts of housing;
(v) outside of the above areas, any change needs to relate to very specific 

needs. 

6.10 Chalgrove is identified as one of the larger villages with the ability to act as a local 
centre with planned growth based on the existing size of the village.  Chalgrove is 
preparing a Neighbourhood Plan to identify sites where the new homes should be built. 
Based on the latest SHMA evidence, Chalgrove is expected to accommodate 
approximately 200 dwellings.  Whilst this site was identified as a potential housing site 
in the early consultation stages of the NP, the current draft proposes just one site on 
land to the west of the village.

6.11

Emerging Neighbourhood Plan (NP)

The Parish Council is currently working on the draft version of its neighbourhood plan 
which is due to go out to consultation shortly. Once this process has been completed 

Page 12



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

the draft plan will be submitted to the District Council. When adopted the plan will form 
part of the statutory development plan for the area. The plan is at an early stage of 
preparation (pre – submission stage) and it must still undergo consultation and 
independent examination before it can proceed to local referendum and its ultimate 
making.  

6.12 The PPG confirms that an emerging neighbourhood plan may be a material 
consideration and that paragraph 216 also applies to the weight that may be given to its 
policies. As the NP is still at pre-submission stage it cannot be afforded any weight 
because it has not yet been submitted to the Council and has not been finalised; it is 
not known, having regard to national and local policy, whether it would be appropriate 
to adopt the NP and it is not known whether objections to policies have been resolved 
by the Parish Council in a satisfactory manner.  This site was nevertheless, identified as 
an option site for housing (Site 7) in the NP consultation process.  The draft NP now 
proposes just one site for 200 dwellings on land to the west of the village.

6.13

Conclusions on the principle of residential development

In view of the above it is clear that the decision-making process for the determination of 
this application is therefore to assess whether the adverse impacts of granting planning 
permission for the proposed development would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits.

6.14

6.15

The accessibility of the site to services and facilities

Chalgrove is a large village and provides access to a range of facilities and services 
including a primary school, convenience stores, public houses and health facilities 
many of which are within walking and cycling distance from the site. The site is 
accessible by sustainable modes of transport with a bus service (T1) linking Chalgrove 
to Watlington, Stadhampton and Cowley (Monday to Saturday) with extended journeys 
to and from Oxford City Centre.  In addition a school bus provides access to Icknield 
Community College in Watlington. 

It is acknowledged that the development would increase demands placed on local 
infrastructure and services. County Education has commented that there is insufficient 
capacity at the secondary school in the area and as such funds from CIL would be 
required to mitigate this impact. The primary school has capacity to accommodate this 
development, but as some year groups are full it is likely that some children may have 
to travel to alternative schools.  Early years and childcare provision also has capacity to 
accommodate this development.    
 

6.16

Matters of detail / technical issues 

Affordable housing and housing mix

Policy CSH3 of the SOCS specifies that 40 per cent of new homes shall be affordable, 
with a tenure mix of 75 per cent social rented and 25 per cent shared ownership.  Given 
that the application is on outline, the mix is currently indicative.  The indicative mix 
would include 48 affordable units and this amounts to 40 per cent.  In terms of the 
tenure split, 26 homes (75%) would be for affordable rent and 12 homes (25%) shared 
ownership.  

6.17 The SHMA is the most up to date evidence base for considering housing mix but the 
Housing Development Officer has commented that the demand for two-bedroom 
shared ownership properties is much higher than for one-bedroom properties, therefore 

Page 13



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

6.18

the overall affordable housing mix may be more suitably delivered with a higher 
proportion of two bedroom properties than is indicated in the SHMA guidance.  In 
general, it is anticipated that the mix of affordable housing should reflect the significant 
demand for two bedroom units for both rented and shared ownership tenures with a 
reduction in one-bedroom accommodation and an adjustment to the number of larger 
homes.  The table below sets out a suggested mix for 48 affordable housing units 
across both Affordable Rent and Shared Ownership.  The applicant has agreed to this 
mix.

1 bed 2 bed 3 bed (5 
person)

3 bed (6 
person)

4 bed 

Affordable 
rented

10 20 4 2 0

Shared 
Ownership

0 8 4 0 0

The affordable units would be distributed throughout the development and a legal 
agreement would require the units to be built “tenure blind” in respect of external design 
and features so they are materially indistinguishable from the general market housing.  
Subject to the completion of a legal agreement to secure the affordable housing 
provision, I consider that the scheme is acceptable in this respect and complies with the 
above policy.  

6.19 In terms of the market housing, the NPPF seeks to deliver a wide choice of high quality 
homes, highlighting the need to plan for a mix of housing based on current and future 
needs.  Policy CSH4 of the SOCS reflects this requirement.  The application proposes 
to provide a range of housing types ranging from 1 to 4 bed dwellings.  The market 
housing mix would need to reflect the SHMA requirements shown below which could be 
secured by condition.

Market homes 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed
SHMA 6% 27% 43% 24%

6.20

6.21

6.22

6.23

Highway safety and traffic impact

A Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted with the application.   Vehicular 
access is proposed via a new roundabout from the B480 and it is proposed to re-use 
the existing public footpath that connects the southern part of the site with the southern 
end of Monument Road. This access would serve pedestrian, cyclists and 
accommodate emergency vehicles. 

Local concern has been raised regarding pedestrian safety entering/leaving the site to 
cross Monument Road/High Street. The TA has assessed accident data for these roads 
and notwithstanding the good safety record of the local highway network, the applicant 
has indicated his willingness to fund the provision of Pelican crossings at Monument 
Road/High Street.  A 2m wide pavement is also proposed on the western side of the 
roundabout, continuing along the southern side of the B480. 

The impact of the estimated trip generation from the development on various junctions 
in the surrounding area have been modelled and the TA concludes that within the 
vicinity, Stadhampton and Watlington, each junction would operate with substantial 
spare capacity and minimal queuing and delay.

Following discussions with OCC the proposed roundabout access arrangements have 
been revised to ensure safe and suitable access for all vehicles including refuse 

Page 14



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

6.24

vehicles and buses.  Improvements have also been made to proposed pedestrian/cycle 
access.  OCC consider the revised plans to be acceptable and raise no objection 
subject to highway conditions and contributions towards improvements to public 
transport.

The NPPF makes it clear that developments should only be refused on transport 
grounds where the residual cumulative impacts are severe. Safe and suitable access 
can be provided to the site as well as a layout that is safe, secure and minimises 
conflict in accordance with section 4 of the NPPF.  As such I consider that the proposed 
development would be acceptable in highway safety terms subject to appropriate 
highway conditions and contributions towards encouraging sustainable modes of 
transport.

6.25

6.26

6.27

6.28

Landscape impact 

The South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment (SOLA) includes the site in the 
Undulating semi-enclosed landscape, which is a predominantly rural landscape with 
some local intrusion of main roads, power lines and built development.  The Landscape 
Capacity Study of potential housing sites in some of the villages of the District looked at 
eight sites in Chalgrove, including the application site (CHAL 7). This found that the site 
has a high capacity for development, i.e. that much of the site is able to accommodate
significant areas of development, providing that it has regard to the setting and form of 
the existing settlement.

The adopted Local Plan and the Core Strategy contain policies that seek the protection 
of landscape character and features and set requirements about the quality of 
development, to ensure that it is appropriate to the site and its surroundings and 
enhances local distinctiveness. The Chilterns AONB is located some 4 kilometres to the 
south-east of the application site, and is separated from the site by substantial 
woodlands and tree belts.

The site is fairly typical of the rural landscape to the east of Chalgrove, although the 
adjacent built forms (to the west and the south) and the B480 have an influence on the 
character of the site, so it has an urban edge appearance.  A Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been submitted with the application which concludes 
that the existing landscape condition of the site is ‘ordinary’ with scope to improve land 
cover with appropriate management and local indigenous planting. The landscape 
value is considered to be ‘poor’ and the landscape sensitivity considered to be 
‘moderate-low’.  There are no views into the site from the Chilterns AONB and while the 
erection of 120 dwellings on site would alter the character of the site, it is already 
influenced by the existing built forms to the west and south.  The landscape strategy for 
the site includes the retention and enhancement of the existing trees and hedgerows on 
the site, including the tree belt on the eastern boundary, plus generous areas of new 
planting including woodland mix planting, native hedgerows and specimen trees within 
the 'landscape buffers' along the northern and southern boundaries.  The LVIA confirms 
that the landscape and visual impacts of the proposed development would not result in 
any material adverse long term or significant impacts on the appearance of the area. 
The landscape and visual effects of the application proposals are judged to be limited, 
localised in extent, short term and capable of mitigation.

Notwithstanding the above, the development of an open agricultural field to provide up 
to 120 dwellings would inevitably have an urbanising effect and would cause some 
erosion of the rural landscape of the area. However I consider that these effects would 
be localised in nature, Nevertheless, the proposal would result in the loss of what is 
currently open agricultural land, and its replacement with housing, streets, lights and 

Page 15



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

associated human activity would clearly have an adverse effect on the rural quality of 
the landscape.  As such the proposal would result in landscape harm and this is a 
matter that must be put into the planning balance to weigh against the proposal. 

6.29

6.30

Agricultural Land

Paragraph 112 of NPPF advises that local planning authorities should take into account 
the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile land (BMV). Where 
significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local 
planning authorities should seek to use poorer quality land in Grades 3b, 4 and 5 in 
preference to higher quality land. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF puts the protection and 
enhancement of soils as a priority in the conservation and enhancement of the natural 
environment. 

The land is partially contained within grade 3a and partially within 3b.  The grade 3a 
land constitutes BMV land and its loss also weighs against the proposal in the overall 
planning balance.

6.31

6.32

6.33

6.34

Trees and ecology

The Arboricultural Implications Report concludes that the arboricultural impact of the 
scheme would be of negligible magnitude, and that the proposed development would 
not have an adverse arboricultural impact on the character and appearance of the local 
landscape or on the amenity or biodiversity that the existing trees provide.

The Forestry Officer has raised no objection to the application but comments that the 
detailed layout will need to consider space for planting to help break up the uniformity 
of any proposed layout and to enable additional planting along the south eastern 
boundary to create a more attractive woodland edge.  As the application is in outline 
form, with landscaping reserved for latter consideration, an appropriate landscape 
scheme could be secured at the reserved matters stage.

An ecological appraisal has been submitted with the application which concludes that 
the majority of the site is of low ecological value. The Countryside Officer has 
commented that the proposal would not have any significant impacts on important 
habitats or species. The illustrative layout has the potential to ensure that the site can 
deliver a no net loss for biodiversity and with careful planning could deliver a small net 
gain. 

In light of the above, there is no evidence to suggest that there are any overriding 
ecological constraints to the development of the site for residential purposes. The 
proposals would deliver a net benefit for wildlife which could be secured through 
appropriate planning conditions.  

Page 16



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

6.35

6.36

6.37

6.38

Design and layout 

The NPPF sets out that the Government attaches great importance to the design of the 
built environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better 
for people. The NPPF also provides that the planning system can play an important role 
in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive communities.

The NPPF goes on to advise that although visual appearance and the architecture of 
individual buildings are very important factors, securing high quality and inclusive 
design goes beyond aesthetic considerations. Therefore, planning decisions should 
address the connections between people and places and the integration of new 
development into the natural, built and historic environment (paragraph 61).

The design policies of the SOCS (particularly CSQ3) and SOLP policies (particularly 
D1-D4) echo these requirements.

The layout of the proposed development is to be the subject of a reserved matters 
application. However, an illustrative site layout has been provided and this 
communicates the key design principles that a subsequent reserved matters application 
should reflect. This is supported by a detailed design and access statement which 
explains the design concepts behind the illustrative layout and how this relates to the 
surrounding area. The net density of the development would be 30 dwellings per 
hectare. 

6.39

6.40

The indicative plans show that sufficient public open space (POS) could be provided to 
meet policy R6 of the SOLP, which requires 10% of the gross site area to be provided 
as informal open space.  The scheme would provide 2.7ha of public open space. The 
illustrative layout indicates green buffer spaces to the north and southern ends of the 
site and open spaces within the development.  A local area of play and two equipped 
areas of play would be provided which would comply with policy R2 of the SOLP.  The 
formal and informal POS and play areas could be secured with a S106 legal 
agreement.  The illustrative site layout also indicates a Scout Hut/community building at 
the south eastern end of the site with provision for 18 car parking spaces.  The 
emerging CNP has highlighted the community’s desire for such a facility.  

The Council’s Urban Design Officer has raised concerns relating to the illustrative 
layout and its failure to demonstrate that it would comply with the principles of the 
design guide.  In response to these concerns the agent has commented that the layout 
is illustrative only and that the density would be 29dph and 2.7ha would be open space, 
which would greatly exceed the amount required by policy.  Notwithstanding the 
concerns of the Urban Design Officer, the application is in outline form only with matters 
such as layout reserved for later detailed consideration.  Overall, it is considered that 
the site is capable of accommodating the quantum of development proposed but a note 
is recommended to ensure that any reserved matters application complies with the 
Council’s design guide.  

6.41

Neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents

Policy D4 of the SOLP requires new development to secure an appropriate level of 
privacy for existing residents.  The layout may change at reserved matters stage and 
the impact on neighbouring properties will be carefully assessed under a future 
application.  Based on the indicative layout, proposed strategic landscaping and the 
separation that can be achieved between the proposed dwellings and neighbouring 
properties, I am of the opinion that the development could be achieved without any 

Page 17



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

adverse impacts on neighbours in terms of light, outlook and privacy.  

6.42

Flood risk and surface / foul drainage

The development area of the site is located in Flood Zone 1 (Least probability of 
flooding) and consequently, the site passes the Sequential Test. The southern 
boundary of the site is partially within Flood Zones 2 and 3.  The submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment advices that the local topography suggests that floodwater emanating from 
Chalgrove Brook to the south of the site would flow west along the valley into Chalgrove 
rather than flowing uphill onto the site itself and there are no recorded incidents of 
flooding at the site itself. Therefore, it is argued that the site is at low risk of flooding 
from this source and all other sources including surface water flooding. The 
Environment Agency has no objection to the proposed development as there would be 
no built footprint or ground raising within Flood Zone 2 or 3.

6.43 A Drainage Strategy has been submitted which identifies that the existing culvert into 
Chalgrove Brook has capacity for the development including the forecasted effects of 
climate change.  To ensure that the rate of post development surface water run-off is no 
greater than existing it is proposed to attenuate run-off from all hardstanding using local 
attenuation basins/tanked permeable paving collectively designed to store surface 
water run-off from storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year storm plus a 40% 
allowance for climate change. Swales would be used to treat and convey run-off across 
the site where feasible. The potential use of additional tanked permeable paving, green 
roofs and tree pits would be confirmed at the detailed design stage.

6.44 Initial concerns raised by the Council’s Drainage Consultant have now been addressed 
following the submission of additional information and a condition is recommended 
requiring the submission and approval of sustainable drainage details.  

6.45 In terms of foul drainage, the Drainage Strategy advises that Thames Water has 
confirmed that the existing foul sewer network does have sufficient capacity to 
accommodate foul wastewater from the proposed development.

6.46

6.47

6.48

Impact on Heritage assets

Paragraph 129 of the NPPF requires that local planning authorities identify and assess 
the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal. 
Core Strategy Policy CSEN3 sets out that designated historic heritage assets will be 
conserved and enhanced for their historic significance. Local Plan Policy CON5 
provides that proposals which would adversely affect the setting of a listed building will 
be refused

The Historic Environmental Assessment concludes that the site is situated at some 
distance from any designated heritage assets with sensitive settings. It also benefits 
from extensive screening from these. Given this distance and screening, it is not 
considered that the construction and ongoing presence of the proposed development 
within the site would result in any harm to the significance of any designated heritage 
assets in the surrounding area through effects to their settings.

Policy CON13 of the SOLP requires appropriate archaeological investigation for 
developments that affect sites of archaeological importance.  The site is located in an 
area of archaeological interest containing a Roman burial of some status. Further 
information on the archaeological interest of the site in the form of an archaeological 
evaluation was required by the County Archaeological Officer (CAO).  

Page 18



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

6.49 The archaeological field evaluation has recorded a number of features dating to the 
Late Iron Age/Early Roman period and consists of a number of linear ditches. A small 
number of pits were also recorded.  The CAO has raised no objection to the application 
subject to a condition requiring a programme of archaeological investigation ahead of 
any development on the site.

6.50

6.51

Environmental matters (air quality and noise)

Policy EP1 of the SOLP seeks to secure mitigation measures to ensure that 
developments do not have an adverse effect on the health and amenity of future 
occupiers.  Based on the size of the proposed development, basic good practice design 
should be applied to this site in order to help mitigate against the air quality impacts and 
to enable future proofing of the development.

The Environmental Health Officer has recommended conditions relating to noise and air 
quality to protect the amenity of neighbouring residents.  

6.52

Infrastructure requirements 

On-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement

On-site infrastructure can be secured through a legal agreement under S106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  The S106 would secure the 
following:

 delivery of the affordable housing (set out at Para 6.16)
 delivery of the on-site open space and play areas including a LAP, LEAP and 

NEAP
 a contribution of £170 per dwelling towards wheeled bins for each house
 a contribution of £1,608 towards street naming and numbering
 The sum of £4408 towards the Council’s S106 monitoring fee                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
 Provision of land for the D1/D2 use (Scout Hut)
 Contribution of £120,000 (index-linked, RPIX January 2017) towards improved 

public transport to benefit residents of the proposed development site.
 Contribution of £10,165 (index-linked, BCIS January 2017) for provision of flag 

mounted Real-Time Information display at Oxford-bound bus stop and new 
pole/flag/timetable case at Watlington-bound bus stop.

 Travel Plan monitoring fees of £1,240 and the implementation of a residential 
travel information pack.

6.53 I consider that these contributions / obligations accord with policy CSI1 of the SOCS, 
which requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and off-site 
infrastructure and services.  They accord with the relevant tests in the NPPF as they 
are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly 
related to the development and are fair and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.

6.54 Community Infrastructure Levy

The proposed development would be CIL liable at a charge of £150 per square metre. 
This would exclude the floor space of the affordable homes as relief from the charge 
can be claimed against these dwellings. The money collected from the development 
can be pooled with contributions from other development sites to fund a wide range of 
infrastructure to support growth, including schools, transport, community, leisure and 
health facilities.    

Page 19



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

7.0 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION
7.1

7.2

In this case the development accords with the Council’s spatial strategy, as Chalgrove 
is identified as a larger village which acts as a local service centre.  The village is 
identified for approximately 200 dwellings.  The site was one identified, in the early 
consultation stages of the NP, as a potential housing site, although it is recognised that 
this site is not now the preferred option for the CNDP Committee.

Nevertheless, the NP is at such an early stage of preparation it cannot be afforded any 
weight. The Council does not have a 5 year housing land supply and as such all the 
relevant development plan policies for the supply of housing are out of date.  Where 
policies for the supply of housing are out of date, para.14 of the NPPF requires a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that planning permission be 
granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits.  In order to judge whether a development is sustainable it must 
be assessed against the three dimensions of sustainable development set out in the 
NPPF: the economic, social and environmental planning roles.

7.3 With regards to the economic dimension of sustainability, the Government has made 
clear its views that house building plays an important role in promoting economic 
growth.  In economic terms, the proposal would provide construction jobs and local 
investment during construction, as well as longer term expenditure in the local 
economy.  I consider that moderate weight should be afforded to these benefits.

7.4 The development would deliver significant social benefits.  The proposal would 
positively support the delivery of housing, including affordable housing.  There is a 
considerable need for market and affordable homes within our district and the proposal 
would contribute towards this at a time of serious housing need.  I attach very 
substantial weight to this social benefit.  Other social benefits include the provision of 
play areas and space for a new community facility.  

7.5 In terms of the environmental dimension, whilst the proposed development would 
intrude into open agricultural land, the scale and particular location of the proposal are 
such that its impact is likely to be limited to the immediate surroundings. Furthermore, 
the impact of the development could be further mitigated by appropriate landscaping. 
Nevertheless, there would be a landscape impact which would constitute harm in terms 
of the environmental sustainability of the proposal.  The proposals would also result in 
the loss of Grade 3a (BMV) land.  The proposed development would not be at an 
unacceptable risk of flooding and would not exacerbate flooding problems for third party 
property.  The development's impact on heritage assets is likely to be largely neutral 
and any impacts could be appropriately mitigated.  In terms of ecology and nature 
conservation, it has been demonstrated that the development would not have a 
detrimental impact upon biodiversity.  

7.6 With regard to accessibility, Chalgrove is a large village and provides access to a range 
of facilities and services including a primary school, convenience stores, public houses 
and health facilities many of which are within walking and cycling distance from the site. 
The site is accessible by sustainable modes of transport with a bus service linking the 
village to Watlington, Cowley and Oxford with stops close by the site. In addition a 
school bus provides access to Icknield Community College in Watlington. Safe and 
suitable access can be provided to the site as well as a layout that is safe, secure and 
minimises conflict in accordance with the NPPF.  

7.7 Overall, I am satisfied that there are no adverse impacts which, either individually or 
together, are of sufficient weight to indicate that the development should be restricted. 

Page 20



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

Placing all of the relevant material considerations in the balance, I consider that the 
adverse impacts would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the very substantial 
benefits which would result from the provision of new housing and affordable housing to 
boost supply as required by the NPPF.  When considered against the development 
plan as a whole, the proposal would represent a sustainable form of development.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To delegate authority to grant planning permission to the Head of Planning 

subject to:

(i) The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the affordable 
housing, financial contributions and other obligations stated above; and

(ii) The following conditions:

1. Commencement - outline with reserved matters.
2. Approved plans.
3. Maximum number of dwellings.
4. Sample materials required (all).
5. Refuse and recycling storage (details required).
6. Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement strategy (outline).
7. Air quality mitigation to be agreed.
8. New vehicular access prior to occupation.
9. Access and vision splays.
10. Construction method statement.
11. Construction traffic management.
12. Hours of construction.
13. Provision of cyclist/pedestrian link.
14. Surface water drainage.
15. Foul drainage.
16. Fire hydrants.
17. Landscaping (including hardsurfacing and boundary treatment).
18. Landscape management plan.
19. Tree protection (general).
20. Market housing mix (outline).
21. Cycle parking facilities.
22. External lighting – general.
23. Levels (details required).
24. Archaeology (submission and implementation of written scheme of 

investigation).
25. Residential travel plan.

Author:          Joan Desmond
E-mail:            Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Contact No:   01235 422600

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



REV DATE NOTES
:rNo :rDate :rNote

REV DATE NOTES
A 7/11/16 OUTLINE PLANNING 

APPLICATION

DO NOT SCALE. USE FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY.

All dimensions to be checked on site.

All drawings to be read in conjunction with engineer's 

drawings.  Any discrepancies between consultants 

drawings to be reported to the Architect before any work 

commences.

The Contractor's attention is drawn to the Health & Safety 

matters identified in the Health & Safety plan as being 

potentially hazardous.

These items should not be considered as a full and final 

list.

The Work Package Contractor's normal Health & Safety 

obligations still apply when undertaking constructional 

operations both on and off site.

Ayre Chamberlain Gaunt take no responsibility for the 

location of legal boundaries indicated on this drawing and 

advise a separate drawing be completed by a specialist 

surveyor in order to establish exact boundaries.

DWG files provided for information only. Refer to PDF 

record.

The copyright of this drawing is held by Ayre Chamberlain 

Gaunt Ltd. Not to be used for any purpose without 

consent.

NOTES:

Ayre Chamberlain Gaunt
14a London Street 
Basingstoke
Hampshire, RG21 7NU 

+44 (0)1256 411 450
mail@acgarchitects.co.uk

1:1000

A1© Copyright
Ayre Chamberlain Gaunt

PROJECT
LAND EAST OF CHALGROVE
CHALGROVE

EXISTING LOCATION PLAN

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NO.

STATUS

DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

A

DA

PLANNING

227_PLN_001

JOB NO.

REV

227

RB

ACGARCHITECTS.CO.UK

Court

72.7m

74.1m

25

6

12

29

1

LB

GP

GP

CHILTERN CL

El S
ub

 S
ta

19
a

19

17

33

15

6

34
36

15

32

2

18

THE SPRINGS

71
.2m

13

12

9

22

Drain

Water

Dra
in

Pond Path (um)

20
A

1

21

20

12

ROAD FARM CLOSE

M
ONUM

EN
T

8

4

1

5

Waterfall

Drain

FB

FA
RM C

LO
SE

Tennis

20

7

2

288

30

SIXPENNY LANE
El Sub Sta

9

13

1

12

17

20

8

4

16

2

19
12

1

13

AR
GOSY

 C
LO

SE

14

2
1

2

5

6

17

BE
VE

RL
EY

 C
LO

SE

3

2

3

1

1

11517

1

19

13 5

11

R
U

PER
T

CL
OSE

C
R

O
M

W
E

LL

CL
OSE

66.8m

66.7m

67.3m

134

138

Sh
elt

er2

132

4

10

1

9

2

GP

El Sub Sta

66.8m

la

2

5

3

1

FRANKLIN CLOSE

68.7m

68.4m

67.1m

8

The Grange

Water

Sluice

FB

Path (um
)

BE
RRIC

K

ROAD

SITE BOUNDARY

©Crown Copyright and database rights 2016 OS 100019980

Appendix A

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 7



REV DATE NOTES
:rNo :rDate :rNote

REV DATE NOTES
A 24/10/16 For information

OUTLINE PLANNING 
APPLICATION

B 7/11/16

DO NOT SCALE. USE FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY.

All dimensions to be checked on site.

All drawings to be read in conjunction with engineer's 

drawings.  Any discrepancies between consultants 

drawings to be reported to the Architect before any work 

commences.

The Contractor's attention is drawn to the Health & Safety 

matters identified in the Health & Safety plan as being 

potentially hazardous.

These items should not be considered as a full and final 

list.

The Work Package Contractor's normal Health & Safety 

obligations still apply when undertaking constructional 

operations both on and off site.

Ayre Chamberlain Gaunt take no responsibility for the 

location of legal boundaries indicated on this drawing and 

advise a separate drawing be completed by a specialist 

surveyor in order to establish exact boundaries.

DWG files provided for information only. Refer to PDF 

record.

The copyright of this drawing is held by Ayre Chamberlain 

Gaunt Ltd. Not to be used for any purpose without 

consent.

NOTES:

Ayre Chamberlain Gaunt
14a London Street 
Basingstoke
Hampshire, RG21 7NU 

+44 (0)1256 411 450
mail@acgarchitects .co.uk

1:1000

A1© Copyright
Ayre Chamberlain Gaunt

PROJECT
LAND EAST OF CHALGROVE
CHALGROVE

INDICATIVE MASTERPLAN

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NO.

STATUS

DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

B

DA

PLANNING

227_PLN_100

JOB NO.

REV

227

RB

ACGARCHITECTS.CO.UK

Appendix B

P
age 24



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

APPLICATION NO. P16/S3525/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 21.10.2016
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBERS Jeannette Matelot

David Dodds
Nigel Champken-Woods

APPLICANT Churchill Retirement Living
SITE Thames Valley Police Station, Greyhound Lane, 

Thame, OX9 3ZD
PROPOSAL Redevelopment to form 41 sheltered apartments for 

the elderly, including communal facilities, access, 
car parking and landscaping.

AMENDMENTS None
GRID REFERENCE 470664/206131
OFFICER Phil Moule

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee as the officer’s 

recommendation conflicts with the views of Thame Town Council.

1.2 This site lies towards the edge of Thame town centre and is located within the Thame 
Conservation Area close to a building of local note. There are some nearby listed 
buildings. To the south of the site is a large supermarket. The site contains a purpose 
built building for the Thames Valley Police Station. The Police counter at this site 
closed on 1 April 2016. The building is still in use by Thames Valley Police but is 
surplus to requirements and will be vacated by the end of March 2017.

1.3 The existing building on the site was constructed in the 1990’s and sits to the north
west of the site. There are some outbuildings within the parking courtyard. Around the 
site is a large boundary wall. There is a small area at the side of the building for visitor 
parking, the remainder of the parking is provided in the centre of the site.

1.4 A plan identifying the site can be found attached at Appendix 1 to this report.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application is for the demolition of the existing police station and redevelopment to

form 41 sheltered apartments for the elderly with communal facilities, access, car
parking and landscaping. The application is an amended proposal for a similar scheme 
(P14/S0880/FUL) that was refused and dismissed at appeal. The current application 
seeks to address the reasons for refusal supported by the Inspector as part of the 
appeal. The background to the appeal scheme and the Inspector’s conclusion are set 
out at Section 6.0 of this report. The plans for the proposed development are set out at 
Appendix 2 and the plans for the previously refused scheme are set out at Appendix 3 
of this report.

2.2 The amendments made to this revised scheme are as follows:

 Reduction in the number of units from 45 to 41 to reduce the size of the overall
footprint

 Reduction of scale, massing and bulk of the proposals, especially to the corner 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3525/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

of Greyhound Lane and North Street, and adjacent to no.39 North Street
 Widening of the distances between the proposed building and site boundaries to

no. 39 North Street
 Omission of the 3-storey feature corner element from the proposals.

Introduction of a more domestic-scale of architecture to North Street and
Greyhound Lane

 Reduction of the height of the building to 2-storeys facing the corner of
Greyhound Lane and North Street.

 Removal of the first floor flat at the north-eastern corner of the proposed building
closest to no.39 North Street, obviating direct overlooking into the private 
garden and conservatory

 Increase the number of separations in the roof form to reduce scale, bulk and
massing

 Use of more architectural references from the rural parts of Thame
 Increase the amount of amenity space, and improve views through the site
 Parking ratio to number of flats increased; undercroft car parking removed

 3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1  Thame Town    
        Council

Objection
 Featureless appearance of the gables
 Inadequate size of some of the rooms
 Inappropriate design / cladding / roof definition of the link 

element
 Poorly defined entrance
 Lack of light into some ground floor flats
 Lack of communal areas
 Insufficient parking provision
 Overdevelopment – too many apartments leading to lack 

of amenity space
 Detrimental effect on Conservation Area with 

overbearing elevations
 Detrimental effect on the vibrancy of the town centre 

through parking displacement
 Insufficient buggy space

Thame Conservation 
Area Advisory 
Committee

Comments as follows:
 Insufficient car parking provision
 No provision made for visitor parking, carers, nursing 

staff, doctors, home helps ambulances, fire engines
 Only 1 lift to serve 27 apartments
 Poor design of building and out of keeping with this part 

of the town which overlooks the cricket field and St 
Mary’s Parish Church

SODC Conservation 
Officer

No objection:
 The application is an improvement on the previous 

scheme in both conservation and design terms
 The overall massing of the building responds to the 

transitional character of the area in a positive way 
 Better reveals the domestic proportions of the built form 

in this part of the Conservation Area
 Design and detailing succeeds in reflecting the domestic 

vernacular character and palette of materials. 
 Design has moved away from the higher status Georgian 

Page 26



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

appearance of the High Street to the more vernacular 
character of the dwellings in this area, as per the 
Inspector’s report on the dismissed appeal. 

 The overall bulk and massing of the proposal better 
responds to the site’s immediate characteristics

 To the south, where the ground is higher and the site is 
bounded by the dominant form of Waitrose, the massing 
and density is higher and then decreases to respond to 
the more domestic proportions of the site to the north. 

 Although the footprint extends across more of the site 
than the existing police station, the site is capable of 
accommodating the amount of proposed built form 
without detriment to the Conservation Area

Oxfordshire County 
Council - Highways

No objection subject to conditions
 OCC initially raised an objection to the application on the 

grounds of insufficient parking provision and a lack of 
clarity over the pedestrian access to the site.

 The objection on grounds of parking provision has been 
removed based on the Inspector’s conclusions as part of 
the appeal scheme

 The objection relating to pedestrian access has been 
removed on receipt of amended plans

 No objection to surface water drainage proposals 
provided this is discharged to highway chamber

 Financial contributions sought towards public transport 
improvements and bus stop infrastructure

Oxfordshire County 
Council - Property

No objection subject to condition 
 The application will place demand on local infrastructure 

including the Local and Central Library, Museum 
Resource Centre, Strategic Waste Management and 
Adult Day Care

 Funding from CIL will be required to mitigate this impact
 Condition required relating to the provision of fire 

hydrants
Oxfordshire County 
Council - Archaeology

No objection subject to conditions
 A programme of archaeological investigation will need to 

be undertaken ahead of any development
Health & Housing - 
Contaminated Land

No objection
 The site is suitable for the intended development with 

respect to contaminated land
Health & Housing - 
Environmental 
Protection Team

No objection subject to conditions
 Initial concerns were raised in relation to noise from road 

traffic, delivery vehicles and queueing cars
 Additional information has been provided to satisfactorily 

overcome these concerns 
Health & Housing – Air 
Quality

No objection subject to conditions
 Initial concerns raised in relation to the Air Quality 

Assessment and how this related to nearby diffusion tube 
data

 Additional information has been provided to satisfactorily 
overcome these concerns

Drainage Engineer - No objection

Page 27



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

MONSON  Existing off-site discharge route drains to the highway 
drainage system. The applicant should therefore confirm 
the County Council's approval of this.

Thames Water No objection
 No objection on the basis of sewerage infrastructure 

capacity
Forestry Officer No objection subject to condition

 Proposed development will result in the removal of all 
existing trees.

 A detailed landscaping scheme will be required 
demonstrating how their loss will be mitigated through 
replacement planting

Countryside Officer No objection
 There are unlikely to be any significant ecological 

impacts if planning permission is granted

Neighbours (23 
responses received)

 Inadequate car parking provision
 Will place pressure in nearby parking areas
 Not appropriate for Thame Conservation Area
 Excessive height and size of proposed building
 Overdevelopment of the site
 Increase in traffic congestion

Neighbour
39 North Street

 Overdevelopment of the site and unsympathetic to its 
conservation setting

 Too little provision made for recreational landscaping 
outside the building

 Inadequate parking provision

Neighbour
New House, Bell Lane

 Will be overlooked
 Too few parking spaces provided
 Additional traffic will cause problems locally
 Development too bulky and overpowering

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P14/S0880/FUL - Refused (25/06/2014) - Refused on appeal (20/01/2016)

Demolition of existing police station.  Redevelopment to form 45 sheltered apartments 
for the elderly with communal facilities, access, car parking and landscaping and police 
counter. (As amplified by additional information (highways, landscape, bat survey) 
received 04th June 2014)

P90/N0893 - Approved (19/04/1991)
New police station.  Access

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies (SOCS)

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSH1  -  Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs

Page 28

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P14/S0880/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P90/N0893


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

CSEN3 – Historic environment
CSEM2  -  The amount and distribution of employment
CSTHA1 -  The strategy for Thame
CSTHA2  -  New allocations at Thame
CSM1  -  Transport
CSM2  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSQ3  -  Design
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSG1   -  Green infrastructure
CSI1  -  Infrastructure provision

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP)

C6  -  Maintain and enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D6  -  Community safety
D10  -  Waste Management
E6  -  Retention of employment sites
EP1  -  Prevention of polluting emissions
EP2  -  Noise and vibrations
EP4  -  Impact on water resources
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
EP7  -  Impact on ground water resources
EP8  -  Contaminated land
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G5  -  Making the best use of land
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
CON5 - Setting of listed buildings
CON6  -  Proposals affecting a conservation area
CON7  -  Proposals affecting a conservation area

Thame Neighbourhood Plan Policies

H6 -  Design of new development to be of high quality
GA6 -  New development to provide parking on site for occupants and visitors
ESDQ12 -  Applications for new development to provide a drainage strategy
ESDQ15 -  Proposal must reinforce Thame’s character
ESDQ16 -  Development must relate well to its site and its surroundings
ESDQ18 -  New development must contribute to local character by creating a sense of
                   place appropriate to its location
ESDQ26 -  Design new buildings to reflect the three-dimensional qualities of traditional
                   buildings
ESDQ27 -  Design in the forgotten elements from the start of the deign process
ESDQ28 -  Provide good quality private outdoor space
ESDQ29 -  Design car parking so that it fits in with the character of the proposed
                   development.
WS12 -  Retain existing employment land in employment use
WS13 -  Support improvements to existing employment areas

Page 29



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

5.2 National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance
South Oxfordshire Design Guide (2016)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
Background

6.1 An application for the redevelopment of the site for 45 sheltered apartments was 
submitted by Churchill Retirement Living in March 2014.  The principle of the 
development was not considered acceptable as it would result in a loss of employment 
land which had not been adequately marketed for a year or a justified case put forward 
as to why this employment site should be lost.

6.2 The scale, massing and design of the proposed building was judged to be detrimental 
to the character and appearance of the Thame conservation area. The proposal would 
also be detrimental to the amenity of nearby neighbours by virtue of an overbearing 
impact and loss of privacy to the rear garden of No. 39 North Street.

6.3 The proposal failed to provide adequate vehicle and cycling parking and in addition 
several car parking spaces which would serve the police counter were considered to be 
detrimental to highway safety. In addition an agreement had not been reached on the 
S106 agreement.  For these reasons the application was not considered to be 
acceptable. The application was refused in June 2014

6.4 An appeal was subsequently submitted against this decision and a public inquiry was 
held in October 2015. As part of the appeal process, several matters were 
subsequently agreed (in the form of statements of common ground) that overcame a 
number of the reasons for refusal for the scheme. 

6.5 The issue of the loss of employment land was addressed. It was agreed that the 
existing purpose-built police station has a specialist design which presents limitations 
and the necessary works required to make the building fit for purpose would outweigh 
anticipated revenues and deter future investors.  It was also agreed that the building 
had been marketed for in excess of one year on an unfettered basis at a reasonable 
price for sale and for rent. It was agreed that it had been demonstrated that the building 
was no longer viable and that it was not required for any other suitable employment 
use. The Council agreed that there was no objection in principle to the loss of the 
existing police station subject to a suitable replacement building being provided. The 
issue of the proposed access and car parking arrangements and car parking provision 
were also addressed.

6.6 Following the inquiry, the Inspector commented that although the plot is capable of 
accommodating a large building, the height and footprint proposed would create one of 
substantial bulk, mass and scale. The scheme would result in a large block on the 
corner of the site with the roundabout. Whilst this could be used positively to announce 
the presence of the building, the height which would rise to three storey plus parapet 
under the pyramidal roof, would contrast significantly with the remainder of the building 
and its neighbours on North Street and Bell Lane. Moreover, the design takes reference 
form the prominent building in the High Street rather than from the more immediate 
environs. 

6.7 The Inspector concluded that the proposed height, bulk and design of the building 
would not create an effective transition between the larger scale development of the 
town centre and the smaller scale and lower density properties in the more immediate 
surroundings of the site. The Inspector also concluded that the proposed development 
would affect the outlook and privacy of the occupiers of No. 39 North Street sufficient to 

Page 30



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

cause harm to their living conditions.

6.8 Agreement was reached prior to the appeal (through a statement of common ground) 
that the proposed access and car parking provision were acceptable to the Council and 
overcame the related reasons for refusal. Whilst the issue of car parking provision had 
been addressed and agreed prior to the inquiry, the Inspector wished to examine this 
issue given the objections received in relation to it. The appellant provided evidence of 
demand for parking based on a survey of eight similar developments. From the results 
of the survey it was established that average parking provision required to meet 
demand was 0.32 spaces per residential unit. This equated to 14 car parking spaces for 
the appeal scheme. 

6.9 Further analysis took account of local parking opportunities and considered the average 
parking provision if the maximum occupancy rates of the survey sites were used in 
order to arrive at a worst case assessment. This analysis was accepted by the Council 
and the County Council. Based on the results, the maximum demand for parking in 
respect of the appeal scheme was agreed to be 15 vehicles. This would include visits 
by visitors, medical, social and other support personnel. This level of demand would 
only occur for a short period and the peak is likely to relate to delivery vehicles. As the 
appeal scheme would provide 14 spaces, there is potential that at certain times the 
demand for parking would not be met. However, the Inspector commented that she was 
satisfied that this would only occur at limited times and there would be suitable 
alternatives within a distance of the site. The Inspector concluded that there would be 
sufficient parking provision on site at a ratio 0.32 spaces per apartment. The amended 
scheme the subject of this application would provide 14 spaces for 41 apartments at a 
ratio of 0.34 spaces per unit.

6.10 The appeal was subsequently recovered by the Secretary of State (in December 2015) 
as it related to a proposal for over 10 residential units in an area with a made 
Neighbourhood Plan.  The Secretary of State agreed with the findings of the Inspector 
on all matters relating to the appeal.  

Principle of the development
6.11 The principle of the redevelopment of the site and the loss of the existing employment 

use has been established through the planning inquiry relating to the previous scheme.  
The redevelopment of the site accords with Policies E6 of the SOLP and WS12 and H5 
of the Thame Neighbourhood Plan.

6.12
The effect on the character and appearance of the conservation area 
Thame Police Station lies within the designated Thame Conservation Area. The 
application is supported by a Heritage Statement prepared by ECUS Environmental 
Consultants. The Council’s Conservation Officer (CO) has been consulted on the 
application. The CO has commented as follows:

6.13 The existing building is not of historic or architectural interest and the dominant nature 
of the police station and Waitrose building behind at best have a neutral impact on the 
character of the area but make little to no contribution to the character of this part of the 
conservation area and the whole designated asset, somewhat detracting from the 
historic pattern of development here which should be more diminished in nature.

6.14 There are listed buildings in the wider setting of the application site and to the north-
west, the area is dominated by the open green spaces of Thame Cricket Ground and St 
Mary’s Churchyard. Elsewhere surrounding the site, the character is of residential 
properties, typically of 1.5 – 2 storeys although to the north, immediately opposite the 
application site, the properties are single storey and of considerably reduced 

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

proportions following the pattern of the Town’s development of the higher density 
commercial centre giving way to the more spacious, rural fringe and countryside.

6.15 A previous scheme for redevelopment here was submitted in 2014. The scheme was 
refused and subsequently dismissed at appeal in 2016. One of the refusal reasons was 
that the proposal did not preserve or enhance those characteristics of the conservation 
area which contribute to the area’s significance as a result of increased bulk and 
density of the proposed new building, harming the transitional character of the area. 
This harm to the conservation area was also judged to harm the adjoining heritage 
assets to the detriment of the experience of their settings and the conclusion was that 
the harm was not mitigated by good design or outweighed in the planning balance by 
public benefit.

6.16 This application is an improvement on the previous scheme in both conservation and 
design terms. This site presents an opportunity to improve upon the existing 
relationship of the north elevation of Waitrose and the Police Station site onto 
Greyhound Lane and better reveal the more diminished character of this area, rather 
than that of the commercial High Street.

6.17 On its own merits:

 I consider that the overall massing of the building responds to the transitional 
character of this area in a positive way, better revealing the domestic 
proportions of the built form in this part of the conservation area compared with 
the existing police station on the site. 

 I consider that the design and detailing of this submission succeeds in reflecting 
the domestic vernacular character and palette of materials here. In particular, 
the design has moved away from the higher status Georgian appearance of the 
High Street to the more vernacular character of the dwellings in this area, as per 
the Inspector’s report on the dismissed appeal.

 The overall bulk and massing of the proposal better responds to the site’s 
immediate characteristics. To the south, where the ground is higher and the site 
is bounded by the dominant form of Waitrose, the massing and density is higher 
and then decreases to respond to the more domestic proportions of the site to 
the north. 

 Although the footprint extends across more of the site than the existing police 
station, I consider that this site is capable of accommodating the amount of 
proposed built form without detriment to the Conservation Area.

6.18 Based on the above, the CO has no in principle objection to the proposal and considers 
the scheme to be largely acceptable in Conservation terms. The CO is satisfied that the 
scheme will preserve the more domestic proportions of this part of the conservation 
area and in some parts will enhance the experience and character of the designated 
assets in line with the Planning (LB&CA) Act 1990 Section 66 and 72, the NPPF, Core 
Strategy Policy CSEN3 and Local Plan Policies CON5, 6 and 7. The proposal is also 
considered to accord with Neighbourhood Plan policies ESDQ16 and ESDQ20. On this 
basis, I consider that the proposal has successfully overcome the reason for refusal on 
conservation grounds that related to the appeal scheme.

Impact on neighbours
6.19 As part of the appeal scheme the Inspector acknowledged that a degree of overlooking 

is to be expected in an urban situation such as this. The appeal scheme proposed 
windows facing the side and rear boundary of the garden of 39 North Street. The 
windows facing the rear boundary were proposed in the east facing elevation of the 
northern tip of the building at ground and first level. The Inspector commented that the 

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

east facing elevation would be located 2.5 metres from the rear boundary of the garden 
of 39 North Street. However, the Inspector concluded that the use of obscure glazing, 
to be secured through a planning condition, would prevent the issue of overlooking. 

6.20 The amended scheme that is the subject of this application also proposes windows 
facing the rear boundary of 39 North Street. The east facing elevation has been set 
back a distance of 8 metres from the rear boundary of the garden of 39 North Street. I 
consider that in accordance with the view of the Inspector, the use of obscure glazing 
would prevent the issue of overlooking and loss of privacy to the rear garden of 39 
North Street. A condition is therefore required to obscure glaze the secondary window 
to the living room and kitchen of apartment 29, the window in the communal corridor 
next to this and the secondary living room window of apartment 30. 

6.21 The main issue the Inspector raised with the appeal scheme was the presence of 
second floor windows facing the side boundary of the rear garden on 39 North Street, 
located in the north facing elevation of the southern limb of the building.  Windows at 
first and second floor levels would allow views towards the rear garden and obscure 
views towards the house and conservatory. The Inspector commented that a section 
drawing provided during the appeal demonstrated that the combined effects of the 
difference in ground levels and the height of the boundary wall restricts views of the 
conservatory from first floor apartments and that views of the garden are restricted by 
existing planting in the garden of 39 North Street. However, this did not apply to 
windows at second floor level. 

6.22 The amended scheme the subject of this application has removed the first floor 
apartment located closest to the conservatory and rear elevation of 39 North Street. 
The closest first floor window would provide an oblique view towards the rear of 39 
North Street, but the windows would be separated by a distance of 25 metres. As 
highlighted above, the difference in ground levels and the height of the boundary wall 
would restrict views of the conservatory. A section drawing is provided with the 
application in the Design and Access Statement. 

6.23 At second floor level, only one apartment is now proposed in the north facing elevation 
of the southern limb. The location of the second floor windows would not directly face 
the side boundary of the rear garden of 39 North Street, but would look over the 
amenity and parking area associated with the proposed development.  These windows 
would be located 40 metres from the conservatory and rear elevation of 39 North 
Street. 

6.24 The separation distance between the proposed windows at first and second floor level 
and the rear windows and conservatory of 39 North Street would accord with the 
Council’s requirements being 25 metres and above. There would be no second floor 
windows that directly face the side boundary of the rear garden of 39 North Street. 
Given this, and the reduction in the overall number of windows at first and second floor 
level, I consider that the issue of overlooking and a loss of privacy and the perception of 
overlooking to the rear garden of 39 North Street has been overcome. 

6.25 The Inspector considered the issue of overlooking and a loss of privacy to New House, 
located on the opposite side of Greyhound Lane to the appeal site. The Inspector 
commented that the separation distance well in excess of 25 metres would separate 
proposed first and second floor windows from the garden area of New House and 
concluded that the extent of overlooking would not cause an unacceptable level of 
harm to their living conditions. The amended scheme has a very similar arrangement to 
the appeal scheme. Overall, I consider the amended proposal is compliant with policy 
D4 of the SOLP.  

Page 33



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

Overbearing impact
6.26 As part of the appeal scheme, the Inspector commented that at its closest the two 

storey element of the proposed building would be 2.5 metres from the western 
boundary of 39 North Street and the two storey element of the southern limb of the 
building would be 11 metres from the side boundary of 39 North Street. Given the 
overall scale of the proposed building and the way it would wrap around two sides of 
the garden of 39 North Street, the Inspector concluded that there would be an 
overbearing impact to the detriment of the living conditions of the occupants of the 
dwelling.

6.27 The revised scheme that is the subject of this application has increased the set back of 
the building to 8 metres from the rear boundary of the garden. This element would now 
be two storey only as opposed to a mixture of two and three storey as part of the 
appeal scheme. The roof would also slope away from the rear boundary of 39 North 
Street, as opposed to the gable end proposed in the appeal scheme, which further 
reduces any overbearing impact.

6.28 The two storey element of the building in the southern limb has been reduced to single 
storey where it is closest to the side boundary and the main house of 39 North Street.  
Other parts of the proposed development away from the immediate boundaries with 39 
North Street would remain three storey. However, the design of the roof has been 
altered with the eaves level significantly lowered and windows set within the roof that 
slopes away from 39 North Street. This gives the impression of a smaller 2.5 storey 
which would reduce the overall impact of the building on 39 North Street. As a result of 
these changes, I consider that the overbearing impact of the appeal scheme has been 
overcome and the current application accords with Policy D4 of the SOLP. 

Air quality 
6.29 The application is supported by an air quality assessment. This demonstrates that 

following the implementation of the proposed development NO2 and PM10 and PM2.5 
concentrations will remain below the objectives at all receptors in 2018, taking into 
account worst case sensitivity test for NO2 .Initial concerns were raised by the Council’s 
Air Quality Officer in relation to the submitted air quality assessment and how the 
results related to diffusion tube data from a nearby location on Aylesbury Road. 
However, further information and clarification submitted by the applicant has been 
sufficient to address these concerns. A condition is required to ensure the provision of 
electric vehicle charging points in the on-site car parking area.

Noise
6.30 The application is supported by a Noise Impact Assessment prepared by Clarke 

Saunders Acoustics. The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer requested further 
information and clarification regarding noise levels within the external amenity areas for 
the site and internal noise levels. This information has been provided by the applicant 
and addresses the issues of noise from road traffic, Waitrose delivery vehicles and cars 
associated with the car park.  

6.31 The Environmental Protection Officer has commented that the amended report 
adequately demonstrates that although the WHO recommended noise level for external 
amenity areas would be exceeded across part of the site, it would be met in the pergola 
area near to the residents lounge and the central paved area near to the main 
entrance. The Environmental Protection Officer is satisfied with this and has raised no 
objection to the application.

6.32 The report demonstrates that mitigation would be required in order to achieve internal 

Page 34



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

noise levels which would meet those recommended in WHO Guidelines for Community 
Noise and BS 8233: 2014 Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for 
buildings. The report provides basic details of the mitigation which would be necessary, 
including minimum sound reduction specifications for glazing and ventilation. However, 
it is important that an acoustic report is provided to confirm that the trickle vents and 
glazing system (including panels, windows, frames, seals etc.) to be used in the 
development are appropriate and that they will meet these minimum sound reduction 
standards. These details can be secured by condition.

Highways impact 
6.33 The County Council, as the local highway authority, has not raised an objection to the 

application.  An objection was initially raised in connection with the level of on-site 
parking to be provided and the issue of pedestrian access into the site from Greyhound 
Lane. 

6.34 As already stated, as part of the appeal inquiry for the previous scheme, the Inspector 
concluded that a parking ratio of 0.32 spaces per apartment was sufficient. This 
provided 14 spaces for 45 apartments. The amended scheme which is the subject of 
this application provides 14 spaces for 41 apartments at a ratio of 0.34. Based on the 
Inspectors conclusions on this matter, the County Council has subsequently agreed 
that the proposed parking provision is acceptable.  

6.35 The County Council was concerned that the plans submitted with the application did not 
show that a pedestrian access would be provided into the site from Greyhound Lane. 
However, this was an omission and amended plan 10063TH-P16-01 Rev A now shows 
how this would be provided 

6.36 The County Council has commented that significant numbers of residents will be unable 
to drive and a credible level of bus service nearby will be very important. Accordingly, a 
financial contribution of £1,032.26 per apartment is sought towards public transport 
improvements to benefit residents of the new development. A contribution of £27,722 is 
also sought towards nearby bus stop infrastructure that will serve the site to comprise of 
bus shelters with real time information displays, new poles, timetable cases and flags at 
nearby stops on North Street and Aylesbury Road.

Landscaping & forestry
6.37 The application is supported by an Arboricultural Assessment and Method Statement. 

The Council’s Forestry Officer has raised no objection to the application. They have 
commented that the proposal would result in the removal of all the existing trees on the 
site with their loss to be mitigated by way of replacement planting. A detailed 
landscaping scheme will need to be provided for the application and this can be 
secured and approved via condition.

Ecology
6.38 The application is supported by an updated Bat Assessment Report and an updated 

Preliminary Ecological Report. The Council’s Countryside Officer has assessed these 
reports and is satisfied that there are unlikely to be any significant ecological impacts if 
planning permission is granted.

Archaeology
6.39 The County Council has raised no objection to the development on archaeological 

grounds. The site is located in an area of archaeological interest and conditions will be 
required to secure an Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation prior to the 
commencement of development, to be followed by a programme of archaeological 
mitigation.

Page 35



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

Surface water drainage 
6.40 The application is supported by a Drainage Impact Assessment prepared by PBA which 

includes a surface water drainage strategy. The proposed development would result in 
a reduction in impermeable areas (roof and hardstanding) from 0.280ha to 0.204ha 
(from 80% to 58%) over the existing situation.  There will therefore be a reduction in the 
rate of surface water runoff from the proposed development. 

6.41 The surface water drainage strategy has been developed based on an attenuated 
discharge to the existing connection point west of the site in Greyhound Lane. This 
follows the existing drainage arrangement at the site and the proposal is to restrict 
discharge providing a significant improvement over the existing situation. The Council’s 
Drainage Engineer has raised no objection to the proposed surface water drainage 
strategy provided the County Council are happy for the site to drain to the highway 
drainage system. The County Council has confirmed that they have no objection to this 
and request a condition to ensure the site drains to the highway chamber.

Foul drainage
6.42 The foul water runoff from the proposed development is to maintain the existing 

connection point.  Thames Water has advised that with regard to sewerage 
infrastructure capacity, they would not have any objection to the above planning 
application.

Affordable housing
6.43 Core Strategy Policy CSH3 is applicable to this application, which seeks a 40% 

affordable housing contribution. The Council’s Housing Officer has advised that under 
the previous application (P14/S0880/FUL) it was considered that the nature of the 
proposed development, in combination with the constraints of the site and financial 
viability, would not lend itself to the on-site provision of affordable housing. A financial 
contribution was therefore agreed in lieu of on-site affordable housing delivery. The 
proposals under the current application provide for a similar scheme to 14/S0880/FUL, 
with a slight reduction in overall apartment numbers and changes to design. It is 
considered that the principle of a financial contribution in lieu of the on-site delivery of 
affordable housing remains applicable. 

6.44 Based on the viability information considered and agreed as part of the appeal inquiry 
for the refused scheme, and following an update to this to inform the current 
application, the Council’s Housing Officer has requested a commuted sum of £632,305 
in lieu of onsite affordable housing provision. This does not take account of the Vacant 
Building Credit as the Police Station building is not currently vacant.  The applicant has 
agreed to this contribution and this will be secured through the S106 Agreement.

CIL
6.45 The application is not CIL chargeable as the proposal is for retirement housing. 

Retirement housing is excluded from the Council’s adopted CIL Charging Schedule.

S106 contributions
6.46 A draft S106 Legal Agreement is being prepared to secure the following:

 a commuted sum of £632,305 in lieu of onsite affordable housing provision
 a financial contribution of £1,032.26 per apartment is sought towards public 

transport improvements
 a contribution of £27,722 towards nearby bus stop infrastructure improvements
 a contribution of £170 per apartment towards wheeled bins

Page 36



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 This application is a resubmission for a previously refused scheme under planning 

application P14/S0880/FUL. Following an appeal inquiry, the principle of the 
redevelopment of this site and loss of the existing employment was agreed to be 
acceptable. On this basis the principle of the development is considered to accord with 
Policies E6 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 and WS12 of the Thame 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

7.2 The design, bulk and massing of the proposed development have been amended from 
that of the appeal scheme and the proposal is now acceptable in conservation terms. 
The scheme will preserve the more domestic proportions of this part of the conservation 
area and in some parts will enhance the experience and character of the designed 
assets in line with the Planning (LB&CA) Act 1990 Section 66 and 72, the NPPF, Core 
Strategy Policy CSEN3, Local Plan Policies CON5, 6 and 7 and Thame Neighbourhood 
Plan policies ESDQ16 and ESDQ20.

7.3 Previous issues relating to overlooking, loss of privacy and an overbearing impact to 
the neighbouring property No. 39 North Street have been addressed and the proposal 
is compliant with Policy D4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011. The level of 
parking provision on site is deemed to be acceptable and in accordance with Policy T2 
of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011. Subject to the signing of a S106 Agreement, 
a financial contribution will be paid in lieu of the on-site provision of affordable housing. 
The proposal is therefore compliant with Policy CSH3 of the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy. On the basis of the above, it is your officer’s view that the development 
proposal is acceptable and should be granted planning permission.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To delegate authority to grant planning permission to the Head of Planning 

subject to:

i) The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the other 
obligations and financial contributions listed in Para. 6.46 of this 
report; and

ii) The following conditions:

1. Commencement within three years – full planning permission.
2. Approved plans.
3. Sample materials to be approved.
4. Hard and soft landscaping scheme to be approved.
5. Details of boundary treatments to be submitted and approved.
6. No occupants under the age of 60 years unless in the case of a couple 

where one person is over the age of 60 the second person shall not be 
under the age of 55.

7. Archaeological written scheme of investigation to be submitted and 
approved prior to commencement of development.

8. Obscure glazing to secondary windows to the living room and kitchen of 
apartment 29, the window in the first floor corridor and the secondary 
living room window of apartment 30. 

9. Specified turning areas and car parking spaces to be provided in 
accordance with approved drawings.

10. Details of the surface water drainage strategy to be submitted and 
approved prior to commencement of development.

11. Construction traffic management plan to be approved prior to 
commencement of development.

Page 37



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

12. New vehicular access to be laid out and constructed in accordance local 
highway authority’s specification prior to occupation.

13. Travel information pack to be approved prior to first occupation.
14. Noise mitigation scheme to be approved prior to commencement of 

development.
15. Details of external lighting to be approved prior to first occupation.
16. Construction management plan to be approved prior to commencement of 

development.
17. Details of provision of fire hydrants to be approved prior to 

commencement of development.
18. Electric vehicle charging points to be provided on site.

Author:          Phil Moule
E-mail:           Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Contact No:  01235 422600

Page 38



P
age 39

A
genda Item

 8

Nansri
Typewriter
Appendix 1



P
age 40

Nansri_1
Typewriter
Appendix 2



P
age 41



P
age 42



P
age 43



P
age 44



P
age 45



P
age 46



Project Title

Proposed Retirement Housing

Greyhound Lane

Thame

1:

Drawing No.

Scale   

Drawn

Date

Checked

Rev.

10063TH - P16 - 08        B

TL

Aug 2016

Drawing Title

PLANNING APPLICATION - August 2016

ELEVATIONS - SHEET 3

2016 PLANNING ISSUESc

Client



Fax     : (01425) 462101
E-mail design@planningissues.co.uk

Dermot McCarthy  RIBA

Ringwood * Hampshire BH24 3SG
Telephone: (01425) 462109

Millstream House * Parkside
South West Design Director

Greyhound Lane, Thame - Proposed Retirement Housing  - Elevation Sheet 3 

A. Minor revisions to roof Nov 2016 TL

B. Down pipes added Nov 2016 MJS

P
age 47



P
age 48



P
age 49

PHIMOU
Typewriter
APPEAL SCHEME

Nansri_2
Typewriter
Appendix 3



P
age 50

PHIMOU_1
Typewriter
APPEAL SCHEME



P
age 51

PHIMOU_2
Typewriter
APPEAL SCHEME



P
age 52

PHIMOU_3
Typewriter
APPEAL SCHEME



P
age 53

PHIMOU_4
Typewriter
APPEALSCHEME



P
age 54

PHIMOU_5
Typewriter
APPEAL SCHEME



P
age 55

PHIMOU_6
Typewriter
APPEALSCHEME



P
age 56

PHIMOU_7
Typewriter
APPEAL SCHEME



P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

APPLICATION NO. P17/S0080/O
APPLICATION TYPE OUTLINE
REGISTERED 9.1.2017
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBER(S) Jeannette Matelot

Nigel Champken-Woods
David Dodds

APPLICANT Mr & Mrs M and G Bostel
SITE 69 Park Street, Thame, OX9 3HU
PROPOSAL Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 3 

three-bedroom two-storey dwellings with parking 
and amenity space.

AMENDMENTS None
OFFICER Simon Kitson

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to planning committee as the officer’s recommendation of 

approval conflicts with the views of the Town Council.

1.2 The site (identified on the map attached at Appendix A) is located within the built up 
limits of Thame, on the south-western side of Park Street adjacent to John Hampden 
primary school. The site lies outside but is bounded on three sides by the designated 
conservation area of Thame.

1.3 The site is lawfully occupied by two retail units at ground floor – a hairdressers and 
car part vendor. There is a single residential flat at first floor. To the north-west of the 
site, there is a detached garage building together with an area of hardstanding, 
apparently used for commercial and customer vehicle parking. The site is within a 
predominantly residential area and within easy walking distance of the town centre.

1.4 In 2014, outline planning permission was granted for the erection of three flats with 
access and layout. Appearance, landscaping and scale are reserved matters for 
further approval. Condition 1 states that the consent expires on 29th October 2017, 
unless the subsequent reserved matters are submitted before this date. The 
subsequent approval of reserved matters would extend the expiry date by a further 2 
years. 

1.5 The previous decision notice is attached as Appendix B.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 As detailed in the application submission, this proposal seeks outline consent for the 

same scheme previously approved, in effect extending the expiry date on the 
permission for a further three year period. All submitted plans and application details 
are identical to the previous submission. 

2.2 A copy of the proposed plans is attached as Appendix C. The application is 
accompanied by a planning statement which can be viewed on line at 
www.southoxon.gov.uk

Page 59

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S0080/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Thame Town Council – Objection

1. Overdevelopment 
2. Dangerous access onto the highway 
3. Loss of retail units and employment

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No objection, subject to 
conditions

Countryside Officer(South Oxfordshire & Vale of White Horse) - No objection

Thame Conservation Area Advisory Committee – No strong views

 that the demolition of these buildings would be an improvement to the street 
scene 

 the design could have been more sympathetic to the mainly Victorian buildings 
in Park Street

Neighbour Approve (1)

 The proposal would have less highway impact than the current commercial use
 The proposal is sensible and well thought out

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P14/S2511/O - Approved (29/10/2014)

Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 3 three-bedroom two storey dwellings 
with parking and amenity space.

P75/N0143 - Approved (30/04/1975)
Division of existing shop into two (one ironmongery, one off-set duplicating, plan 
printing and photo copies)

P73/M0541 - Approved (20/06/1973)
Extension to form flat above existing shop.

P69/M0153 - Approved (10/04/1969)
Erection of 2 flats. Alteration & extension of existing showroom, garage, & workshop. 
Access to be improved.

P64/M0013 - Approved (22/01/1964)
Internal alterations and conversion of front showroom into offices.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Thame Neighbourhood Plan (TNP) Policies;

H5 Windfall sites
H6 Design
WS12 Retain existing employment land 
GA6 New development to provide parking on site for occupants and visitors
ESDQ11 Sustainable Urban Drainage
ESDQ16 The site and its surroundings
ESDQ17 The character of the town as a whole
ESDQ18 Sense of place
ESDQ19 Design and Access Statement

Page 60

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P14/S2511/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P75/N0143
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P73/M0541
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P69/M0153
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P64/M0013


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

ESDQ26 Three-dimensional qualities
ESDQ27 Design in the ‘forgotten’ elements 
ESDQ28 Private outdoor space
ESDQ29 Car parking

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies;

CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) policies;

CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
E6  -  Loss of employment uses
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG)

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered in the determination of this planning application are:

1. The principle of the development
2. The impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area
3. The impact on neighbouring properties
4. The impact on parking provision/highway safety
5.  Provision of adequate amenity space
6.  Housing mix

Principle

6.2 The planning committee previously accepted that the principle of this proposal is 
acceptable. There have been no relevant changes to the Development Plan or national 
policy prior to the submission of this application. 

6.3 Whilst the Town Council raise objection to the loss of the retail properties, the site is a 
considerable distance outside the defined primary and secondary retail frontages of the 
town. As such, there are no policies within the WNP which prevent this form of change 
of use. Furthermore, as the land is not lawfully within a B1, B2 or B8 use Class, TNP 
Policy WS12 does not apply and there is no requirement within the Development Plan 
for the applicants to justify this proposal through the submission of a viability appraisal 
or marketing information.   

6.4 It remains the case that Policy CSTHA1 of the SOCS and TNP Policy H5 allow housing 
on suitable infill and redevelopment sites, subject to compliance with other 
Development Plan policies. This site lies within the built up limits of Thame in an area 
where the predominant land uses are residential and the principle of the redevelopment 
of the site is acceptable.

Page 61



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

Impact on the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding 
conservation area

6.5 SOLP Policy H4 requires that an important open space of public, environmental or 
ecological value is not lost, nor an important public view spoilt. The site is occupied by 
unattractive buildings and a parking area. The site has no particular environmental or 
ecological value and there are no important views across the site. 

6.6 Although the site lies outside the Thame conservation area, it is bound on 3 sides by it. 
Policy CON7 of the SOLP seeks to resist proposals for development outside a 
conservation area which would have a harmful effect on its setting. The existing 
building and parking area are unattractive and do not contribute positively to the 
character of the surrounding conservation area. The redevelopment of this site for 3 
modest dwellings and associated parking provides an opportunity to enhance the 
character and appearance of the area, provided that an appropriate design is brought 
forward, taking cues from the local vernacular. Details of design and materials are not 
to be considered at this outline stage. However, good quality materials and a traditional 
dwelling design, as shown on the illustrative elevations, are likely to be an appropriate 
response to the wider historic environment.   

6.7 Policies D1 and H4 of the SOLP, Policy CSQ3 of the SOCS and the design objectives 
of the TNP emphasise the requirement for development proposals to be in keeping with 
the pattern of development and character of the local surroundings. Although detailed 
designs are reserved for later approval, the site plan demonstrates that 3 dwellings of 
an appropriate scale, design and appearance could be achieved on this site. There 
would be sufficient space around the proposed buildings so that the development would 
not appear cramped within the context of the surrounding area. 

Residential Amenity

6.8 There have been no changes to the proposed site layout since the previous approval 
and Section 7 of the new 2016 Design Guide sets out the same recommended private 
amenity space standards as the previous 2008 document. 

6.9 Although the private amenity spaces continue to fall short of the generic 100 sq.m 
recommendation, both the SODG and SOLP Policy D3 emphasise the need for a 
flexible approach, taking account of the surrounding context. The need for a Thame-
specific appraisal of development proposals is also a recurring theme within the TNP’s 
design objectives and policies. In this particular case, the development would be in the 
town centre within 94m of a recreational ground and part of a walkable neighbourhood. 
There are also numerous examples within the locality of dwellings, both traditional and 
modern having rear gardens significantly smaller than 100sqm – For example, no 60 
Park Street -32sqm, No 82 -47sqm and 16 Park Terrace 42sqm. As such, the 
established character of this part of Thame includes many dwellings with small rear 
gardens. This aspect of the proposal is considered acceptable and the density of 
housing proposed would not adversely impact upon the overall charcter of the area.  

Neighbouring amenity

6.10 It is noted that the adjacent site to the south is currently under redevelopment following 
approval of a housing scheme (P15/S2782/FUL) and this will impact upon the 
relationship with the previously-approved dwellings at the application site. However, it is 
a significant material planning consideration that the extant outline permission granted 
consent for the current proposed layout and that this permission predated the Thame 
Service Station application. As the approved layout can be implemented regardless of 

Page 62



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

the current site circumstances, provided reserved matters are submitted by October, 
officers do not consider that the council can reasonably refuse planning permission now 
for an identical scheme. 

6.11 Given the position of the buildings in relation to neighbouring properties, officers 
consider that the development would not result in any adverse neighbour impact in 
terms of loss of daylight or sunlight. With regards to overlooking, it is acknowledged that 
there would now be some visibility of the proposed gardens from the north-west facing 
windows of the apartment block under construction to the south. However this should 
also be weighed against the arguably improved outlook from the application properties 
following removal of the commercial service centre buildings. As landscaping remains a 
matter reserved for future approval, officers anticipate that some form of boundary 
screening is likely to be required in order to ensure that there would be an adequate 
standard of privacy to the gardens at the application properties. The development 
would otherwise have an acceptable impact on existing and future occupiers of the 
neighbouring properties as required by SOLP Policies H4 and D4.

Highway safety

6.12 The previous outline approval granted consent for the same access arrangements. 
Drawing 01a shows each dwelling with its own vehicular access directly off Park Street 
and off street parking. 

6.13 Irrespective of the subsequent Thame Service Centre redevelopment, the Local 
Highways Authority (LHA) continue to raise no objection to this scheme, subject to 
conditions. Officers accept the LHAs advice on this matter and have no technical basis 
to challenge their professional view that there would not be an adverse impact upon 
pedestrian or highway safety.  

Housing Mix

6.14 Whilst Policy CSH4 of the SOCS requires a mix of dwelling types where there would be 
net gain of three dwellings, this is not a requirement of the more recent neighbourhood 
plan. Under TNP Policy H9, which in this instance takes precedence over the SOCS, 
the housing mix threshold is raised to 6 units.  The proposal complies with this policy.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

6.15 The council’s CIL charging schedule was adopted on 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning 
charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support 
the development of their area, and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint 
created as a result of the development. In this case CIL is liable for the development 
because the proposal involves the creation of new dwellings. The CIL charge applied to 
new residential development in this case is £150 per square metre of additional 
floorspace.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The principle of residential development is acceptable in this town centre site. The 

application is in outline only and the submitted details demonstrate that the layout of the 
development is acceptable and that a development of an appropriate scale and design 
could be accommodated at the site. The County Highway Authority has not raised an 
objection to the access which is considered to comply with the requirements of the 
NPPF. This proposal would provide 3 small units of accommodation in a very 
sustainable location. 

Page 63



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission, subject to the following conditions:

1. That the development to which this permission relates shall be begun not 
later than whichever is the later of the following dates (a) the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission; or (b) the expiration of two 
years from the final approval of the reserved matters, or in the case of 
approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter to be 
approved.

2. In the case of any reserved matter, application for approval must be made 
not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of the 
grant of outline planning permission.
 

3. Prior to the first occupation of the development, car parking spaces shall 
be provided within the curtilage of the site so that motor vehicles may 
enter and park off of the highway. the parking areas shall be constructed, 
laid out, surfaced, drained and completed in strict accordance with 
specificatin details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of devleopment. The 
car parking areas shall be retained unobstructed except for the parking 
and manoeuvring of motor vehicles at all times.

4. Cycle parking facilities shall be provided prior to the occupation of the 
development hereby approved, in accordance with details to be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the 
commencement of development.  

5. Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority 'LPA', 
development other than that required to be carried out as part of an 
approved remediation scheme must not commence until a phased 
contaminated land investigation has been undertaken in accordance with 
details agered in writing with the LPA. Document(s) detailing the works 
undertaken in each phase must be submitted to and approved by the LPA 
in writing before any other phase commences, and before occupation of 
any building. If contamination is found during the course of development 
that was not previously identified, the development must be halted on that 
part of the site to the extent specified by the LPA and until the LPA are 
satisfied that all necessary phases above have been undertaken.

6. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until surface 
water drainage works have been carried out in accordance with details 
that have been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

7. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until foul 
drainage works have been carried out in accordance with details that have 
been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

8. Prior to the commencement of any site works (including demolition or site 
clearance) an arboricultural method statement shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to show that any 
mature trees close to the boundary of the site shall not be harmed by the 
development hereby approved and that a protected area shall be 

Page 64



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

designated for these trees which  shall be protected in accordance with a 
scheme which complies with the current edition of BS 5837: "Trees in 
relation to design, demolition and construction" that shall first have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  
The agreed measures shall be kept in place during the entire course of 
development.

Author:        Simon Kitson
E-mail:         Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Contact No: 01235 422600

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 67

Agenda Item 9

Nansri_3
Typewriter
Appendix A



www.southoxon.gov.uk page 1 / 7

PLANNING

Mr & Mrs Bostel
c/o Ian Slater Architectural Design
The Old Saracen's Head
7 Buttermarket
THAME
OX9 3EW

OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION

South Oxfordshire District Council hereby gives notice that outline planning
permission is GRANTED for the carrying out of the development referred to above
strictly in accordance with the description, plans and specifications contained in the
application (as varied by any amendments as referred to above) subject to the
following condition(s) : 

That the development to which this permission relates shall be begun not later
than whichever is the later of the following dates:

(a) the expiration of three years from the date of this permission; or
(b) the expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters,
or in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such
matter to be approved.

Reason: By virtue of Section 91 to 95 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.

in the case of any reserved matter, application for approval must be made not
later than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of the grant of

1.

2.

Planning Decision

Application No : P14/S2511/O                

Application proposal, including any amendments :
Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 3 three-bedroom two storey
dwellings with parking and amenity space.

Site Location : 69 Park Street Thame OX9 3HU

P14/S2511/O

Page 68

Nansri_4
Typewriter
Appendix B



page 2 / 7

P14/S2511/O

outline planning permission.

Reason: By virtue of Sections 91 to 95 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.

Prior to the first occupation of the development, car parking spaces shall be
provided within the curtilage of the site so that motor vehicles may enter and
park off of the highway. the parking areas shall be constructed, laid out,
surfaced, drained and completed in strict accordance with specificatin details to
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to
the commencement of devleopment. The car parking areas shall be retained
unobstructed except for the parking and manoeuvring of motor vehicles at all
times.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the provision of off-
street car parking in accordance with Policies T1 and T2 of the South
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

NB: For the works in the highway (crossover) a separate permission is required
from the Local Highway Authority. Pleae contact the Licensing and Streetworks
Administration Team prior to the commencement of works - TEL 0843 10 1111.
For the avoidance of doubt: The details of this dropped crossover shall confirm
to a transition kerb construction and not include a radius. This is in the interests
of pedestrian convenience, which is better served by transition kerbs which do
not require the need to drop down and raise up a steeped kerb crossover.

Cycle parking facilities shall be provided prior to the occupation of the
development hereby approved, in accordance with details to be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the
commencement of development.  

Reason: To encourage the use of cycles as a means of transport in accordance
with Policy T2 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

The dwelling(s) hereby approved shall achieve Level 4 of the Code for
Sustainable Homes (or any such equivalent national measure of sustainability
for house design which replaces that scheme).  No dwelling shall be occupied
until a final Code Certificate has been issued for it certifying that Code Level 4
(or any such equivalent national measure of sustainability for house design
which replaces that scheme) has been achieved.
 
Reason: To ensure high standards of sustainable design and construction in
accordance with Policy CSQ2 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027.

Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority 'LPA', development
other than that required to be carried out as part of an approved remediation

3.

4.

5.

6.

Page 69



page 3 / 7

P14/S2511/O

scheme must not commence until phases i) to iv) have been complied with, or
further works have been deemed unnecessary as a result of conclusions based
on risk assessments during phases i), ii) or iii), and this has been agreed upon
in writing by the LPA.  

Document(s) detailing the works undertaken in each phase must be submitted
to and approved by the LPA in writing before any other phase commences, and
before occupation of any building in relation to phase v).  All phases of
investigation must be designed and conducted in accordance with DEFRA and
the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land
Contamination, CLR 11.

i) A South Oxfordshire District Council contaminated land statement
questionnaire.
ii) A preliminary risk assessment, including a site walkover and conceptual site
model detailing all potential contaminants, sources and receptors.
iii) An intrusive site investigation to assess the type, nature, extent and risk(s) of
any contamination identified in ii), whether or not it originates on site.  It is
recommended that the LPA are consulted on proposals.
iv) A detailed remediation scheme, to bring the site to a condition suitable for
the intended use.  The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, a timetable of works
and site management procedures.  The scheme shall also ensure that after
remediation the site will not qualify as Contaminated Land under Part 2A
Environmental Protection Act 1990.
v) Validation of the remediation scheme demonstrating the effectiveness of the
remediation approved in iv).

If contamination is found during the course of development that was not
previously identified, the development must be halted on that part of the site to
the extent specified by the LPA and until the LPA are satisfied that all
necessary phases above have been undertaken.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to future users of the
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and
other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy EP8 of the South Oxfordshire
Local Plan 2011.

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until surface water
drainage works have been carried out in accordance with details that have
been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason:  To prevent pollution and flooding in accordance with Policies EP1,
EP4 and EP6 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

7.

Page 70



page 4 / 7

P14/S2511/O

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until foul drainage
works have been carried out in accordance with details that have been first
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent pollution in accordance with Policy EP1 of the South
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

Prior to the commencement of any site works (including demolition or site
clearance) an arboricultural method statement shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to show that any mature
trees close to the boundary of the site shall not be harmed by the development
hereby approved and that a protected area shall be designated for these trees
which  shall be protected in accordance with a scheme which complies with the
current edition of BS 5837: "Trees in relation to design, demolition and
construction" that shall first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by,
the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed measures shall be kept in place
during the entire course of development.

Reason: To safeguard trees which are visually important in accordance with
Policy CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and Policies G2, C9
and D1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

Your attention is drawn to the need to have regard to the requirements of UK
and European legislation related to the protection of certain wild plants and
animals. Approval under that legislation will be required and a licence may be
necessary if bats are affected by the development. If bats are discovered you
must be aware that to proceed with the development without seeking advice
from Natural England could result in prosecution

The above permission/consent may contain pre-conditions, which require
specific matters to be approved by the Local Planning Authority before a
specified stage in the development occurs.  This means that a lawful
commencement of the approved development/works cannot be made until the
particular requirements of the pre-condition(s) have been met.  Please read the
letter attached to the decision notice for further information.

This approval is specific to the details of the development as shown on the
approved plans and other associated documentation.  Unless otherwise agreed
by the Council any departure from the approved plans will constitute
unauthorised development and may be liable to enforcement action.  As such
the Council must be advised in writing of any proposed variations from the
approved plans and other associated documentation at the earliest stage
possible.  A decision will then be made as to whether the changes can be dealt
with as a minor revision to the approved details or whether a revised application
is required.

8.

9.

NB:

NB:

NB:

Page 71



page 5 / 7

P14/S2511/O

Head of Planning
29th October 2014

The principle of residential development is acceptable in this town centre site. The
application is in outline only and the submitted details demonstrate that the layout of
the development is acceptable and that a development of an appropriate scale and
design could be accommodated at the site. The County Highway Authority has not
raised an objection to the access which is considered to comply with the
requirements of the NPPF. This proposal would provide 3 small units of
accommodation in a very sustainable location.

Reason for Decision 

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy
Framework the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development
proposals. The Planning Service works with applicants/agents in a positive and
proactive manner by offering a pre-application advice service and by advising
applicants/agents of issues that arise during the processing of their application and
where possible suggesting solutions to problems.

Note : A more detailed explanation is available in the officer's report, available in the
application case file.

Proposals in a conservation area
Affordable housing
Meeting housing needs
Outdoor amenity area
Loss of employment uses
Protect district from adverse development
Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

CON7
CSH3
CSH4
D3
E6
G2
H4
T1
T2

Key Policies 
1

Note : The full wording of the above policies are available on our website or in the
local plan documents, at our offices.

Page 72



page 6 / 7

P14/S2511/O

STATUTORY INFORMATIVE

Appeals to the Secretary of State

If you are aggrieved by the decision of your local planning authority to refuse
permission for the proposed development or to grant it subject to conditions, then
you can appeal to the Secretary of State for the Environment under sections 78 and
79 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

If you want to appeal, then you must do so within six months of the date of this
notice, using a form which you can get from :

The Planning Inspectorate
Customer Support Unit
Temple Quay House
2 The Square
Temple Quay
Bristol
BS1 6PN
Telephone : 0303 444 5000
www.planningportal.gov.uk
email: enquiries@pins.gsi.gov.uk.

The Secretary of State can allow a longer period for giving notice of an appeal, but
he will not normally be prepared to use this power unless there are special
circumstances which excuse the delay in giving notice of appeal.

The Secretary of State need not consider an appeal if it seems to him that the local
planning authority could not have granted planning permission for the proposed
development or could not have granted it without the conditions it imposed, having
regard to the statutory requirements, to the provisions of the development order and
to any directions given under the order.

In practice, the Secretary of State does not refuse to consider appeals solely
because the local planning authority based its decision on a direction given by him.

Purchase Notice

If either the local planning authority or the Secretary of State for the Environment
refuses permission to develop land or grants its subject to conditions, the owner may
claim that he can neither put the land to a reasonably beneficial use in its existing
state nor can he render the land capable of a reasonably beneficial use by the
carrying out of any development which has been or would be permitted.

In these circumstances, the owner may serve a purchase notice on the Council

Page 73



page 7 / 7

P14/S2511/O

(District Council, London Borough Council or Common Council of the City of London)
in whose area the land is situated.  This notice will require the Council to purchase
his interest in the land in accordance with the provisions of Part VI, Chapter 1 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Compensation

In certain circumstances compensation may be claimed from the local planning
authority if permission is refused or granted subject to conditions by the Secretary of
State on appeal or on reference of the application to him.

These circumstances are set out in sections 114 and related provisions of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990.

OTHER INFORMATION

The Planning Portal contains a wide range of helpful planning-related guidance and
services. You may wish to view their website (www.planningportal.gov.uk). 

Page 74



site plan 1:200

N

job

dwg. title

7 buttermarket,  thame
oxfordshire.      ox9 3ew
tel:        (01844)  260860

the old saracen's head

planning drawing

69 park street
Thame
Oxon

street scene (north east)

park street

path

road restriction

1. 2. 3.

location plan 1:1250

N

existing building to be removed

rev: a 12.06.14 planning

P
age 75

Nansri_5
Typewriter
Appendix C



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

APPLICATION NO. P17/S0129/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 27.1.2017
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBERS Jeannette Matelot

Nigel Champken-Woods
David Dodds

APPLICANT Beechcroft Developments Ltd
SITE 67 Park Street, Thame, OX9 3HT
PROPOSAL Conversion from one residential property into two 

apartments.
AMENDMENTS Parking provision and balcony privacy screen
GRID REFERENCE 471167/205407
OFFICER Simon Kitson

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to planning committee as the officer’s recommendation of 

approval conflicts with the views of the Town Council.

1.2 The application site (identified on the map attached at Appendix A) is currently 
occupied by a detached building recently in use as an office falling within Use Class 
B1. The property is located within the built-up limits of Thame, on the south-western 
side of Park Street, adjacent to the former Thame Service Station site. 

1.3 In 2015, the building was referenced within a planning approval for the redevelopment 
of the site. The scheme is to provide 20 retirement units. No. 67 Park Street is shown 
on the approved site layout plan as ‘retained to residential use (subject to separate 
planning application)’ This is attached at Appendix B

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 As detailed in the application submission, consent is sought for the conversion of the 

building into two residential flats, with parking provision, amenity areas and a first floor 
roof terrace. 

2.2 A copy of the proposed plans is attached as Appendix C. The application is 
accompanied by a planning statement which can be viewed online at 
www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Thame Town Council – Objection

1. Loss of employment floor space 
2. Did not appear to have been advertised for commercial use

Thame Consevation Area Advisory Committee. - No strong views

 Issues raised over fenestration detail and glazing

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No objection, subject to 
condition

Waste Management Officer (District Council) - No strong views

Page 77

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S0129/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P16/S3517/NM - Approved (21/11/2016)

Non material amendment - to simplify some of the building details and scheme on 
application ref. P15/S2782/FUL.

P16/S0766/NM - Approved (15/04/2016)
Non material amendment to remove existing unsafe chimney from retained fire station 
to application P15/S2782/FUL.

P15/S2782/FUL - Approved (22/12/2015)
Demolition of existing buildings (retention of the former Fire Station building) and re-
development of site with two and three storey buildings to create 20 retirement units for 
people aged 55 and over and formation of courtyard parking and communal gardens.

P13/S1589/FUL - Approved (31/07/2013)
Demolition of existing buildings and walls, erection of new boundary wall with railings, 
and use of land for the display and sale of motor vehicles.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Thame Neighbourhood Plan (TNP) Policies;

H5 Integrate windfall sites
WS12 Retain existing employment land 
ESDQ15 Design and Access Statement 
ESDQ16 Site and its surroundings
ESDQ17 Character of the town 
ESDQ20 Historic context
ESDQ28 Private outdoor space
ESDQ29 Car parking

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies;

CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSQ3  -  Design
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSTHA1  -  The Strategy for Thame

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) policies;

CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
E6  -  Loss of employment uses
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG)

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Page 78

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3517/NM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S0766/NM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S2782/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P13/S1589/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered in the determination of this planning application are:

1. The principle of the development
2. The impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area
3. The impact on neighbouring properties
4. The impact on parking provision/highway safety
5.  Provision of adequate amenity space

Principle

6.2 Policy WS12 of the TNP states that proposals for the redevelopment or change of use 
of redundant land or buildings in employment or service trade use to non-employment 
uses will only be permitted if the existing use is no longer economically viable and the 
site has been marketed at a reasonable price for at least a year. This proposal is not 
accompanied by any marketing information demonstrating that the lawful B1 use of the 
building is not economically viable. There are nonetheless other material considerations 
which need to be weighed in the planning balance, in accordance with Section 70(2) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Paragraph 2 of the NPPF.

6.3 The agent argues that the change of use of the office building was granted under the 
previous consent for the Thame Service Station redevelopment. Officers note that the 
building was included in the approved site plan, implying that it featured in the 
residential scheme. However, there is some ambiguity as the approved site plan 
2629.P.101 rev: J states: 'No.67 Retained to residential use (subject to separate 
planning application)'. Furthermore, the development description only makes reference 
to the redevelopment of the site to provide 20 retirement units. There is no explicit 
reference to the change of use of no. 67 within the development description or the 
delegated report. It is mentioned in the latter, but only in terms of its retention with no 
material alterations.

6.4 Whilst the loss of employment of the Thame Service Centre and adjacent units was 
considered to be acceptable under the previous approvals, the Town Council raise 
particular objection to this aspect of the current proposal. However, whilst it is accepted 
that the employment use is afforded protection under WS12, officers note that this form 
of change of use benefits from the permitted development (PD) rights set out under 
more recent national legislation. For the avoidance of doubt, this is set out under Part 3, 
Class O of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015. The original planning permission for the change of use to B1 office did not revoke 
PD rights and officers are mindful that the property could therefore be converted to 
residential uses without the need for planning permission or any form of viability 
assessment. 
  

6.5 Given the lack of highway objection, contaminated land or flooding issues and the 
location of the property within a wider housing development, officers consider that prior 
approval for the change of use would be highly likely to be granted should an 
appropriate application be submitted. On this basis, officers consider that there are 
sufficient material planning considerations in this instance to allow a departure from this 
aspect of the Development Plan. The site is otherwise in a highly sustainable location 
for new housing, with convenient pedestrian access to the town centre and a range of 
key services and facilities. 

Page 79



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

Impact upon the character and appearance of the conservation area

6.6 There are few external alterations proposed to the existing building, with the main 
operational development occurring to the rear of the property where there is little or no 
visibility from public vantage points. Officers concur with the Thame Conservation Area 
Advisory Committee’s views that timber fenestration detail would be preferable to the 
uPVC shown on the submitted plans and the mirrored glazing is inappropriate. This is 
an area where there are a significant number of properties which have retained 
traditional sliding sash style timber openings. These elements should be the subject of 
further consideration as a condition of consent, in order to ensure that the proposal 
would conserve or enhance the character and appearance of the surrounding 
conservation area. 

Residential amenity

6.7 Whilst the proposed flats would be provided with very limited private amenity spaces, 
less than the recommended SODG standards, both this document and SOLP Policy D3 
emphasise the need for a flexible approach, taking account of the surrounding context. 
This is consistent with the design objectives of the TNP. Many of the surrounding 
properties also have limited garden areas and this is a particularly walkable 
neighbourhood with a recreation ground and town centre in close proximity to the site. 

6.8 It is noted that there are no objections received on the basis of neighbour impact. The 
proposed development would not result is a material loss of light or outlook with respect 
to any of the neighbouring properties. Officers do however consider that the proposed 
roof terrace may result in potential overlooking of the rear part of the garden area at no. 
66 Park Street. Whilst the side of the terrace would be largely obscured by the flank 
wall of the neighbouring dwelling, the width and depth of this raised area required a 
more substantial form of privacy screen.

6.9 Following discussions with the agent, the privacy screening has been extended around 
the perimeter of the terrace i.e. replacing the railings with a higher, obscure glazed 
means of enclosure with a minimum 1.5m height.  Officers are satisfied that this 
measure would provide adequate mitigation, allowing a reasonable outlook from the 
resident’s private amenity area whilst also significantly obscuring views of the 
neighbouring garden.  

Highway safety

6.10 Following the submission of a revised parking arrangement, the Local Highway 
Authority raise no objection to the proposal. Officers are satisfied that adequate parking 
provision is provided and that the additional vehicular movements from the main site 
access would not be prejudicial to highway or pedestrian safety. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 This is a sustainable location for this form of development and there would not be an 

adverse neighbour or highway impact, subject to the attached conditions. The council is 
satisfied that the proposed scheme would not materially harm the character of the site, 
the street scene or the wider conservation area. 

Page 80



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission, subject to the following conditions:

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later 
than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this 
permission.

2. That the development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the details shown on the approved plans

3. Prior to first occupation of the first floor flat, privacy screening to the roof 
terrace shall be provided in accordance with the approved plan. The 
screening shall be glazed in obscure glass with a minimum of level 3 
obscurity and it shall be retained at a minimum height of 1.5m from floor 
level.

4. That the development hereby approved shall not commence until a 
detailed specification of the type, design and external finish of all windows 
and external doors has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter the development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details.

5. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the 
parking and turning areas shall be provided in accordance with drawing 
no. MDL-1251-PL120 and shall be constructed, laid out, surfaced, drained 
and completed to be compliant with sustainable drainage (SuDS) 
principles, and shall be retained unobstructed except for the parking of 
vehicles associated with the development at all times.

Author: Simon Kitson
E-mail: Planning@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No: 01235 422600

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 83

Agenda Item 10

Nansri_6
Typewriter
Appendix A



122

PARK TERRACE

PA
RK STREET

0m 10m 20m

PD1

PD2

PD3

Seating
Area

Resident
Managers
Office

Cycle and
Buggy storage

Bin
Collection
Area

27 Car
Parking
Spaces

Waste and
recycling store

Covered walkway

 Trees canopy (offsite)

No.67

No.67

Former Fire
Station to be
retained and
refurbished

No.67
Retained to
residential use
(subject to separate
planning application)

MGR
Space

Cycle and
Buggy storage

Waste and
recycling store

Covered walkway

Demarked
Pathway

Maintained
Communal
Gardens

Maintained
Communal
Gardens

Pathway
Link

Pathway
Link

Access through
building with
secure keypad

Gated access
with keycode security
and lighting
(Gate will be metal rail type)

Sun Rooms with
glazing to all
external walls

Client:

Job:

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

Beechcroft
Developments

Thame Service
Station

Black & White
Site Plan

1:200

Apr 15 RN/SR

2629.P.101 J

PLANNING

A 04.06.15 Updated
B 08.06.15 Updated to show

outline of existing
garage

C 22.06.15 Updated
D 16.07.15 Updated
E 20.07.15 Updated
F 27.07.15 Updated
G 29.07.15 Updated
H 03.08.15 Updated
J 24.11.15 Updated

Electric charging points

P
age 84



122

PARK TERRACE

PA
RK STREET

0m 10m 20m

PD1

PD2

PD3

Seating
Area

Resident
Managers
Office

Cycle and
Buggy storage

Bin
Collection
Area

27 Car
Parking
Spaces

Waste and
recycling store

Covered walkway

 Trees canopy (offsite)

No.67

No.67

Former Fire
Station to be
retained and
refurbished

No.67
Retained to
residential use
(subject to separate
planning application)

MGR
Space

Cycle and
Buggy storage

Waste and
recycling store

Covered walkway

Demarked
Pathway

Maintained
Communal
Gardens

Maintained
Communal
Gardens

Pathway
Link

Pathway
Link

Access through
building with
secure keypad

Gated access
with keycode security
and lighting
(Gate will be metal rail type)

Sun Rooms with
glazing to all
external walls

Client:

Job:

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

Beechcroft
Developments

Thame Service
Station

Black & White
Site Plan

1:200

Apr 15 RN/SR

2629.P.101 J

PLANNING

A 04.06.15 Updated
B 08.06.15 Updated to show

outline of existing
garage

C 22.06.15 Updated
D 16.07.15 Updated
E 20.07.15 Updated
F 27.07.15 Updated
G 29.07.15 Updated
H 03.08.15 Updated
J 24.11.15 Updated

Electric charging points

P
age 85

Nansri_7
Typewriter
Appendix B



C

C

C

y
c
l
e
/
B

u
g
g
y

S
t
o
r
e

H

a
l
l

C

K
i
t
c
h
e
n

D

r
a
w

i
n
g

R

o
o
m

B
e
d
 
1

B
a
t
h

B

e
d
 
2

W

W

W

C

H
a
l
l

0

Scale - 1:1250

10 20 30 40 50

0

Scale - 1:200

10 20 30 40 50

---

CLIENT

JOB No:

ISSUE

REV DATE DESCRIPTION INITIALS

Suite 1

Waterslade House

Thame Road

Haddenham

Buckinghamshire

HP17 8NT

T 01844 299101

F 01844 292545

E info@miakodadesigns.co.uk

W www.miakodadesigns.co.uk

DATE:CHK:DRN:

STATUS:

DRAWING No:

TITLE:

SCALE:

PROJECT:

CLIENT:

Part Street

Thame

Oxfordshire

S
H

E
E

T
 
S

I
Z

E
 
-
 
A

1

NOTES:

ANY DISCREPANCIES IN DRAWINGS OR DETAILS TO BE

REPORTED TO MIAKODA DESIGNS LTD FOR CLARIFICATION

© COPYRIGHT MIAKODA DESIGNS LTD.

2
5

0
m

m
2

0
0

m
m

1
5

0
m

m
1

0
0

m
m

5
0

m
m

No. 67 Location and Site Plan

MDL-1251-PL120

N.H. Dec 2016

1:200

1:1250

XX

Planning

P
age 86

AutoCAD SHX Text
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
PARK STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
PD1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
PD2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
PD3

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
Seating Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Bin Collection Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
Waste and recycling store

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
 Trees canopy (offsite)

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
No.67a

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
Former Fire Station to be retained and refurbished

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
PD1, PD2 and PD3 approved under separate planning application

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
Waste and recycling store

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
Maintained Communal Gardens

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
Maintained Communal Gardens

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
No.67b

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
No.67b

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
No.67a

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
PARK TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
68a-68d

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
PD1, PD2 and PD3 approved under separate planning application

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
HORSESHOES PL

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
Cresswell

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
PARK STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
VICTORIA MEAD

Nansri_8
Typewriter
Appendix C



No. 67 Front Ground Floor Offices

(Existing)

No. 67 Front First Floor Offices

(Existing)

No. 67 Front Elevation

(Existing)

No. 67 Side Elevation

(Existing)

No. 67 Rear Elevation

(Existing)

Existing metal

grille in front

of window

No. 67 Side Elevation

(Existing)

Cycle/Buggy

Store

Hall

C

WC

Beechcroft Office

Kitchen

Drawing

Room

Drawing

Room

Bed 1

Bath

Bed 2

W

W

W

C

Bed 1

Kitchen

Bed 2

B
o
i
l
e
r

B
F

-
W

Terrace

Hall

Hall

No. 67 Front Ground Apartment

(Proposed)

No. 67 Front First Floor Apartment

(Proposed)

W

W

Privacy

screen

Boiler

BF-R

All windows to be replaced

with white uPVC windows

(except ground floor rear

windows/doors)

All windows to be replaced

with white uPVC windows

(except ground floor rear

windows/doors)

Bath

C

Window to be

mirrored glazing

Rear terrace over existing

flat roof with opaque

glazed privacy screen to

perimeter min 1.5m from

terrace floor level

No. 67 Front Elevation

(Proposed - no change)

All windows to be replaced

with white uPVC windows

(except ground floor rear

windows/doors)

Window to be

mirrored glazing

No. 67 Rear Elevation

(Proposed)

Rear terrace over existing

flat roof with opaque

glazed privacy screen to

perimeter min 1.5m from

terrace floor level

All windows to be replaced

with white uPVC windows

(except ground floor rear

windows/doors)

No. 67 Side Elevation

(Proposed)

All windows to be replaced

with white uPVC windows

(except ground floor rear

windows/doors)

Rear terrace over existing

flat roof with opaque

glazed privacy screen to

perimeter min 1.5m from

terrace floor level

No. 67 Side Elevation

(Proposed - no change)

All windows to be replaced

with white uPVC windows

(except ground floor rear

windows/doors)

EXISTING PROPOSED

0

Scale - 1:100

10 205 15

---

CLIENT

JOB No:

ISSUE

REV DATE DESCRIPTION INITIALS

Suite 1

Waterslade House

Thame Road

Haddenham

Buckinghamshire

HP17 8NT

T 01844 299101

F 01844 292545

E info@miakodadesigns.co.uk

W www.miakodadesigns.co.uk

DATE:CHK:DRN:

STATUS:

DRAWING No:

TITLE:

SCALE:

PROJECT:

CLIENT:

Part Street

Thame

Oxfordshire

S
H

E
E

T
 
S

I
Z

E
 
-
 
A

1

NOTES:

ANY DISCREPANCIES IN DRAWINGS OR DETAILS TO BE

REPORTED TO MIAKODA DESIGNS LTD FOR CLARIFICATION

© COPYRIGHT MIAKODA DESIGNS LTD.

2
5

0
m

m
2

0
0

m
m

1
5

0
m

m
1

0
0

m
m

5
0

m
m

No. 67 Existing and Proposed

Plans and Elevations

MDL-1251-PL121

N.H. Dec 2016

1:100

XX

Planning

P
age 87

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
HA

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
T

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
T

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
T

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
T

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
T

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
HA

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
T

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
T

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
T

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
T

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
T

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
R

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
W



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

APPLICATION NO. P17/S0168/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 17.1.2017
PARISH CHOLSEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Pat Dawe

Jane Murphy
APPLICANT Mr  Vink
SITE 24 Panters Road, Cholsey, OX10 9NY
PROPOSAL To erect an attached two-bedroom dwelling 

including new vehicular access.
AMENDMENTS None
GRID REFERENCE 458972/186374
OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to Planning Committee because the officer 

recommendation is contrary to the Parish Council’s recommendation.

1.2 Number 24 Panters Road is a semi-detached dwelling which is situated on the 
western side of Panters Road. It is rendered with a plain clay tile roof and has a 
detached pre-fabricated concrete single garage block in the rear garden. 

1.3 The site lies within the built up limits of Cholsey in an established residential area 
outside any area of restraint. It is highly sustainable having a variety of shops, and 
public transport links including a railway station with services to London and Oxford. 

1.4 Planning permission was granted last year under planning ref P16/S1330/HH for a 
two storey side extension to increase the number of bedrooms to 4. This permission 
has not been implemented. 

1.5 An OS extract showing the location of the site is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks full planning permission to erect a two storey, two bedroom 

dwelling attached to no 24 Panters Road including a new vehicular access. The new 
dwelling would have its own private rear garden and a single parking space at the front 
of the dwelling. 

2.2 A copy of the submitted plans is attached as Appendix 2  A full copy of the application 
including the supporting statement and application form etc. can be viewed on the 
council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

2.3 The design of the proposed dwelling is very similar to the design of the extant planning 
permission for the two storey extension. A copy of the elevation plan relating to this 
approved scheme is attached as Appendix 3.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Cholsey Parish Council – Object

 
 Overdevelopment
 Would create a terrace which is out of character with the street scene

Page 89

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S0168/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

 Material change to the appearance of number 22 Panters Road
 Parking is at a premium on Panters Road - an additional dwelling will only 

exacerbate this

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No objection subject to 
conditions relating to the new vehicular access and retention of parking and 
manoeuvring areas.

Neighbour Object (5)

 Design and scale of the building is out of keeping with the area and surrounding 
properties.

 Inadequate parking 
 Will devalue existing properties
 Will alter no 24 from a semi-detached to a terraced property
 Overlooking from French doors at the rear of the property
 Will exacerbate existing drainage problem in this road
 Unrealistic parking provision
 Will block light to neighbour’s kitchen

Neighbour No Strong Views (1)

 No objection to this proposal

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P16/S1330/HH - Approved (21/07/2016)

Proposed ground and first floor side and rear extensions (as clarified by drawing 1976-
G-9 Rev A received 17th June 2016, to show parking spaces) (As amended by drawing 
received 30th June 2016, to reduce the height of the two storey element)

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;

D1  -  Principles of good design
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

5.4 Neighbourhood plan 
Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in 

Page 90

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1330/HH


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

emerging plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only 
subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and 
the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

Cholsey are working towards the adoption of a neighbourhood plan and are at stage 1 
in the process - (Area designation). The neighbourhood plan therefore has limited 
weight at this stage.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered in the determination of this planning application are:

 Principle of residential development
 Policy H4 criteria
 Garden size
 CIL
 Other issues

6.2 Principle
Policy CSR1 allows for infilling within the villages of the District. Infill is defined as the 
filing of a small gap in an otherwise built up frontage or on other sites within settlements 
where the site is closely surrounded by buildings. In this case, the site is part of the side 
and rear garden of an existing dwelling which lies in a road within an established 
residential area. It is a small gap in an otherwise built up frontage and is closely 
surrounded by buildings. As such, the principle of residential development is 
acceptable.

6.3 Notwithstanding the above, the council cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply 
of deliverable housing land. Paragraph 49 of the NPPF makes it clear that relevant 
policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local 
planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing land 
and the ‘presumption favour of sustainable development’ should be applied. The 
mechanism for applying that presumption is set out in paragraph 14 of the NPPF. This 
advises that where relevant policies are out-of-date (unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise) then permission should be granted, unless any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole or where specific policies in the 
NPPF indicate development should be restricted.

6.4 If the proposed housing development is acceptable in principle, then the detail of the 
proposal must be assessed against the criteria of saved policy H4 of the SOLP.

6.5 Policy H4 criteria
Policy H4 of the SOLP allows for new housing within the villages providing the following 
criteria are met:

i. That an important open space of public, environmental or ecological 
value is not lost. The application site is the side and rear garden of 24 
Panters Road. It has no particular environmental or ecological value.

ii. Design, height, and bulk are in keeping with the surroundings. The 
design, height and bulk of the proposed dwelling is the same as that 
approved under planning ref P16/S1330/HH for a two storey extension. As 
such, the principle of this design has been approved. There were no 
objections to this extant scheme from either the Parish Council or 
neighbours.

iii. The character of the area is not adversely affected. The dwelling would 

Page 91



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

appear as a two storey extension to no 24. The materials used in the 
external finish of the development would match those on the existing 
dwelling. Other two storey extensions in the locality have been built in a 
similar style to that proposed. As such the character of the area would not 
be adversely affected.

iv. Amenity, environmental or highway parking.  
Amenity: The principal windows of the new dwelling would face to the front 
and rear. This is the same pattern that already exists in Panters Road and 
with the existing dwelling with front windows looking out over front gardens 
across the road to properties on the eastern side of Panters Road and the 
rear windows looking towards rear gardens and properties to the rear. In this 
case, the windows at the rear of the new dwelling would be some 30 metres 
from the rear windows of the properties at the rear. This is in excess of the 
25 metre guidance suggested by the South Oxfordshire Design Guide. The 
neighbours have raised a concern relating to the large full length windows at 
the rear of the new dwelling. There are no balconies proposed and it is your 
officers’ opinion that these windows are not materially more unneighbourly 
than more traditional windows and do not warrant a refusal of planning 
permission. 
Parking: Two off street parking spaces would be provided for the existing 
dwelling at no 24 and a single off street parking space would be provided for 
the new dwelling. This accords with the council’s standard for parking 
spaces and the County Highway Authority have raised no objection to the 
proposal on parking grounds.

v. Backland development. This proposal does not constitute backland 
development.

6.6 Garden sizes
Policy D3 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that a private outdoor garden or amenity space 
is provided for all new dwellings. The South Oxfordshire Design Guide goes on to 
recommend garden sizes for different sized dwellings.  It advises that a 3 bedroom 
dwelling should have a garden size of some 100sqm and a 2 bedroom dwelling a 
garden size of some 50sqm. In this particular case, the 3 bed dwelling at no 24 wold 
retain a garden of some 146sqm and the new 2 bed dwelling would have a garden of 
some 138qm. As such both properties will have gardens in excess of the council’s 
standards.

6.7 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted and applies to relevant 
proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area, 
and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the 
development. 

In this case CIL is liable because the proposal involves the creation of a new dwelling. 
CIL payable would be £6,864.00.

6.8 Other issues
Some neighbours have objected to the proposal on the grounds that by adding an 
additional dwelling onto an existing pair of semi-detached properties, the value of their 
property would be adversely affected. This is not a planning consideration and cannot 
be considered in the assessment of this proposal.

Page 92



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The principle of erecting a single dwelling in this location is acceptable as the site lies 

within the built up limits of Cholsey. The new dwelling would not be unneighbourly and 
would not adversely affect the established character of the area. It is very similar to a 
two storey side extension approved at this property last year. It would provide a small 
unit of accommodation in a highly sustainable location.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans. 
3. New vehicular access. 
4. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained. 

Author: Kim Gould
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 95

Agenda Item 11



Appendix 2

Page 96



Page 97



P
age 98



P
age 99



S
IT

E

24
 P

an
te

rs
 R

oa
d

C
ho

ls
ey

W
al

lin
gf

or
d

O
xo

n 
O

X
10

 9
N

Y

w
w

w
.d

e
r

s
k
s
h

e
l
to

n
b

u
il

d
in

g
d

e
s
ig

n
.c

o
.u

k
D

R
A
W

N
 B

Y

S
 S

D
R
A
W

IN
G

 N
O

19
76

.G
.1

8A
C
LI

EN
T

M
r 

S
 P

ai
n

24
 P

an
te

rs
 R

oa
d

C
ho

ls
ey

W
al

lin
gf

or
d

D
ES

C
R
IP

TI
O

N

B
lo

ck
 &

 L
oc

at
io

n 
Pl

an
s

PR
O

JE
C
T

Pr
op

os
ed

 e
xt

en
si

on
 &

 a
lt
er

at
io

ns

H
il

l
c
r

o
f
t,

 N
e
w

in
g

to
n

, 
W

a
l
l
in

g
f
o

r
d

, 
O

x
o

n
 O

X
1

0
 7

A
H

T
e
l
: 
0

1
4

9
1

 6
5

1
5

2
8

 /
 0

7
8

7
2

 4
9

4
1

4
0

D
E

R
E

K
 S

H
E

L
T

O
N

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 D
E

S
IG

N
 

::  BLOCK PLAN
scale: 1:500 

A 
027

::  LOCATION PLAN
scale: 1:1250 

A 
028

Position of proposed front porch

Proposed extension

Site boundary

Rear garden

Profile of existing dwelling

PA
N

TE
RS

 R
O

A
D

IS
S
S
U

E

Pl
an

ni
ng

D
A
TE

16
.4

.1
6

Existing boundary wall partially demolished
 to min 3500mm to accommodate access to

new parking bay to front
extended driveway to be formed using 20mm pea gravel

Appendix 3

P
age 100



S
IT

E

24
 P

an
te

rs
 R

oa
d

C
ho

ls
ey

W
al

lin
gf

or
d

O
xo

n 
O

X
10

 9
N

Y

w
w

w
.d

e
r

s
k
s
h

e
l
to

n
b

u
il

d
in

g
d

e
s
ig

n
.c

o
.u

k
D

R
A
W

N
 B

Y

S
 S

D
R
A
W

IN
G

 N
O

19
76

.G
.7

A
C
LI

EN
T

M
r 

S
 P

ai
n

24
 P

an
te

rs
 R

oa
d

C
ho

ls
ey

W
al

lin
gf

or
d

D
ES

C
R
IP

TI
O

N

Pr
op

os
ed

 E
le

va
ti
on

s

PR
O

JE
C
T

Pr
op

os
ed

 e
xt

en
si

on
 &

 a
lt
er

at
io

ns

H
il

l
c
r

o
f
t,

 N
e
w

in
g

to
n

, 
W

a
l
l
in

g
f
o

r
d

, 
O

x
o

n
 O

X
1

0
 7

A
H

T
e
l
: 

0
1

4
9

1
 6

5
1

5
2

8
 /
 0

7
8

7
2

 4
9

4
1

4
0

D
E

R
E

K
 S

H
E

L
T

O
N

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 D
E

S
IG

N
 

::  PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION
scale: 1:100 

A 
011 

::  PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION
scale: 1:100 

A 
012 

::  PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION
scale: 1:100 

A 
014 

::  PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION
scale: 1:100 

A 
013 

IS
S
S
U

E

B
'R

eg
s

D
A
TE

16
.4

.1
6

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

APPLICATION NO. P17/S0171/HH
APPLICATION TYPE HOUSEHOLDER
REGISTERED 25.1.2017
PARISH WALLINGFORD
WARD MEMBER(S) Imran Lokhon

Elaine Hornsby
APPLICANT  Nicola Huijer
SITE 7 Croft Terrace WALLINGFORD, OX10 0DD
PROPOSAL Replacement windows on rear of property and 

replacement front door.
AMENDMENTS None
GRID REFERENCE 460547 / 189138
OFFICER Roseanne Lillywhite

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application has been referred to the Planning Committee at the Development 

Manager’s discretion because the applicant is a former South Oxfordshire District 
Council employee, previously based within the planning department.

1.2

1.3

7 Croft Terrace, which is shown on the OS extract attached at Appendix 1, is a two 
storey mid-terrace property.  The property is brick-built with cream render to the front 
elevation with brick and lime render to the rear elevation. 

The property lies within Wallingford Conservation Area and there is an Article 4 
Direction on the property.  This has removed permitted development rights to extend 
or alter the building without planning permission.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The proposal is to replace all 5 existing windows to the rear of the property and replace 

the existing front door. 

2.2 The plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 2.  Full copies of all 
the supporting documentation and consultation responses are available for inspection 
on the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk 

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Wallingford Town Council - No strong views

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P67/B0008 - Approved (07/03/1967)

Alterations

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies;

CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSQ3  -  Design

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1  -  Principles of good design
H13  -  Extension to dwelling

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

Page 103

Agenda Item 12

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S0171/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P67/B0008


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 5 April 2017

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in 
emerging plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only 
subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and 
the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF. 

Wallingford Town Council are working towards a neighbourhood plan. The site is 
located within the Wallingford Neighbourhood Plan Area and the Plan is currently 
between stages 1 and 2 of the process, such that it currently holds limited weight in 
decision making. 

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main consideration for this approval is the impact of the proposal on the 

character of the dwelling and the Conservation Area
The proposed works would not normally require planning permission, but due to the 
Article 4 Direction placed on the whole of the whole of the terrace, planning permission 
is required.  This restriction was put in place to control any alteration, extension or 
improvement to the properties.

6.2

6.3

The existing rear windows are in poor condition and are in need of replacing.  They do 
not appear to have any historic merit, due to the lack of glazing bars and are not 
considered original features of the property.  Their replacement with a more traditional 
looking timber framed window is considered acceptable.  Whilst the use of double 
glazing is not usually supported on historic buildings, in this case, its use would not 
harm the character of the property.  Due to the windows position at the rear of the 
property, I do not consider their replacement with double glazed, flush casement 
windows with timber frames to be harmful to the appearance of the Conservation Area. 

The replacement of the existing front door, again is not an issue, because it also not an 
original feature of the property.  Its replacement with an oak style door is not considered 
harmful to the character of the property or the wider Conservation Area.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 It is recommended that planning permission is granted because the proposal does not 

adversely affect the character and appearance of the property or the Conservation 
Area.  In conjunction with the attached conditions the proposal will accord with 
development plan policies.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning planning permission subject to the following conditions

1. Commencement three - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans. 
3. Materials as on plan.

Author: Roseanne Lillywhite
Contact no: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Page 104

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix A

P
age 105

A
genda Item

 12



Appendix B

Page 106



 
 
 

 
Title: rear elevation 

 
 Site: 7 Croft Terrace 

 
 Scale:1:50 

 
 Date: 24 Jan 2017 

Page 107



 
 
 

Title: rear elevation Site: 7 Croft Terrace Scale:1:25 Date: 17 Jan 2017 

Page 108


	Agenda
	7 P16/S4062/O - Land east of Chalgrove
	P16/S4062/O - Land east of Chalgrove - Appendices
	Appendix A
	227_PLN_001-EXISTING LOCATION PLAN
	Viewport-26


	Appendix B


	8 P16/S3525/FUL - Thames Valley Police Station, Greyhound Lane, Thame
	P16/S3525/FUL - Thames Valley Police, Greyhound Lane, Thame - Appendices
	1 Appendix 1 Location Plan
	2 Appendix 2a - P16-01 C - SITE PLAN - FREEHAND
	2a Appendix 2b - P16-02 C - GROUND FLOOR PLAN
	2b Appendix 2c - P16-03A - FIRST FLOOR PLAN
	2c Appendix 2d - P16-04A - SECOND FLOOR PLAN
	2d Appendix 2e - P16-05A - ROOF PLAN
	2e Appendix 2f - P16-06A - ELEVATIONS - SHEET 1 - FREEHAND
	2f Appendix 2g - P16-07A - ELEVATIONS - SHEET 2 - FREEHAND
	2g Appendix 2h - P16-08B - ELEVATIONS - SHEET 3 - FREEHAND
	2h Appendix 2i - P16-09A - ELEVATIONS - SHEET 4 - FREEHAND
	3 Appendix 3a Proposed site plan dwg 10063TH - P01
	3a Appendix 3b Proposed Elevations - Sheet 1 dwg 10063TH - P06
	3b Appendix 3c Proposed Elevations - Sheet 3 dwg 10063TH - P08
	3c Appendix 3d Proposed Elevations - Sheet 4 dwg 10063TH - P09
	3d Appendix 3e Proposed first floor plan dwg 10063TH - P03
	3e Appendix 3f Proposed ground floor plan dwg 10063TH - P02
	3f Appendix 3g Proposed roof plan dwg 10063TH - P05
	3g Appendix 3h Proposed second floor plan dwg 10063TH - P04
	3h Appedix 3c Proposed Elevations - Sheet 2 dwg 10063TH - P07


	9 P17/S0080/O - 69 Park Street, Thame
	P17/S0080/O - 69 Park Street, Thame - Appendices
	A Appendix pdf
	B Decision Notice
	Composite_proposed_drwgno. 01a


	10 P17/S0129/FUL - 67 Park Street, Thame
	P17/S0129/FUL - 67 Park Street, Thame - Appendices
	A - Appendix
	A1 Site Plan Proposed dwgno 2629.101_J
	B Site Plan Proposed dwgno 2629.101_J
	MDL-1251-PL120 (2)
	Sheets and Views
	PL120


	MDL-1251-PL121
	Sheets and Views
	PL121




	11 P17/S0168/FUL - 24 Panters Road, Cholsey
	P17/S0168/FUL - 24 Panters Road, Cholsey - Appendices
	1 Appendix 1
	2 Appendices 2
	1 PROPOSED Site Location Plan drwgno 836.3-PL01b
	2 PROPOSED Site Block Plan 836.3-PB01a
	3 EXISTING Elevations drwgno 836.2 E004a
	4 PROPOSED Elevations drwgno 836.2 P004a

	3 Appendix 3
	1 Amended Location and Block plan dwgno 1976 G 18 Rev A
	2 Proposed elevations dwgno 1976 G 7A



	12 P17/S0171/HH - 7 Croft Terrace, Wallingford
	P17/S0171/HH - 7 Croft Terrace, Wallingford - Appendices
	1 Location Plan drwgno LOC01
	2 Block Plan drwgno BLO01
	2a Proposed Elevation_Rear drwgno PE01
	2b Elevation_Rear_Proposed





